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Message from the  
Chair & Chief Executive

The year ended 30 June 2013 has been one of growth 
and transformation for Airways. The Making a New 
Airways (MANA) project featured in last year’s annual 
report began implementation on 1 July 2012 with  
far-reaching improvements for the business. New senior 
managers, a vital pricing consultation process and a 
massive drive to increase our infrastructural asset base 
have enhanced the capabilities of Airways. All this, 
and much more, has happened at the same time as 
enabling 1.1 million flight movements with excellent 
safety, on-time performance and productivity metrics. 
These metrics keep Airways at the forefront globally of 
assisting the aviation industry and the travelling public, 
in areas as diverse as safety, efficiency, cost reduction 
and on-time performance.

The aviation sector internationally appears to be 
experiencing signs of a very gradual recovery. It is 
a matter of debate whether the improvement is 
permanent or a short term blip. Premium travel and 
cargo movements are trending upwards. While IATA has 
upgraded its annual forecast of earnings for the sector 
from $12 billion to $14 billion, this still means the 
sector will make only a 1.8% return for the year. 

In international markets we see continuing uncertainty in 
Europe and the Middle East and relative stability in the 
USA. We are getting mixed messages from Asia, a key 
market for our economy. The domestic outlook is for  
some growth in passenger numbers. While passenger 

numbers increased 2.5% over last year, Airways volumes 
are based on aircraft movements which were flat. The 
0.1% total growth in volume was made up of a 2.4% 
decrease in international volumes and a 1.6% increase in 
domestic volumes.

Despite these flat volumes, it has been a positive year 
for Airways. We have achieved a net operating profit 
after tax (NOPAT) of $21.8 million for the 2012-13 
year, compared to $9.3 million for the previous financial 
year, against a budget of $5.4 million. A key driver of 
this improvement was the early termination of Airways’ 
Cross Border Lease (QTE Lease). This termination 
resulted in the release of deferred income of  
$18.8 million and an increase to NOPAT of $12.8 million.

Group NOPAT, before the impact of the QTE lease 
termination, was $9.0 million. This is a favourable result 
compared to the previous year’s result of $8.4 million 
due mainly to tight cost control in the System Operator 
business. 

This is a time of tremendous change in air navigation 
and surveillance. Air navigation service providers 
(ANSPs) all over the world are transitioning from the 
conventional radar and ground-based surveillance of 
the past 60 years, to GPS technology. This transition  
will be gradual over a number of years and ANSPs 
like Airways can only move as fast as the speed that 
commercial flight decks reconfigure, and regulatory 
approval is achieved. For a number of years, dual 
systems will need to be operated and maintained.

As well as taking the first steps towards this huge 
technology transformation, Airways has also had a 
year of operational and cultural transition. The goal 
was to radically transform Airways from a proficient 
organisation to an operationally and commercially 
successful business with safety remaining our number 
one priority. Early signs indicate success. Since the new 
Airways started on 1 July 2012 we’ve redesigned our 
organisation structure, including significant changes 
at executive level. We undertook an international 
recruitment drive, which successfully augmented our 
existing executive capability with Russell Hulstrom 

Susan Paterson 
Chair

Ed Sims  
Chief Executive
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(from Lochard in Australia) heading Global Service 
operations and Pauline Lamb, from NATS in the UK to 
lead our System Operator activities. Mark Loveard was 
appointed internally to lead our finance, corporate and 
shared services division. It has been an energising and 
exciting time for many of our staff and not without its 
challenges. Throughout the transition we have striven 
to ensure we fulfil our statutory objectives particularly 
around safety and operational integrity, while still hitting 
the business targets we agreed through MANA. We are 
pleased to confirm that we have successfully retained 
our strong safety and efficiency metrics throughout the 
transition process, for which credit must be given to all 
staff through all levels of the business. 

We also invested heavily in improving our services, 
setting an ambitious target for our capital expenditure 
programme for the year of $32.6 million, an 
82% increase over the previous year. Some of 
the components of the programme have been 
rescheduled, resulting in capital expenditure reaching 
$23.6 million for the year – a 32% increase over the 
previous year. This was achieved with a great effort 
from the Airways technical and engineering teams.  
Key projects included the Performance Based 
Navigation (PBN) programme and the Southern 
Automatic Dependent Surveillance-Broadcast 
(ADS-B) project which will extend controlled airspace 
over Dunedin, Invercargill and the Tasman Sea by 
September 2013. These projects will provide significant 
benefits to our customers and contribute to the 
$70 million we will save customers in fuel 
efficiencies over the next three years. Winning 
the Jane’s ATC Award for operational efficiency 
for Airways’ PBN implementation project in 
Queenstown against around 70 other ANSPs 
was another significant achievement.

A further key milestone during the year was the 
conclusion of the 2013-16 pricing round. The setting 
of prices followed a robust and transparent pricing 
consultation. The pricing level was designed to ensure 
that essential investments in the transition to new 
technology (which enable fuel savings for airlines) 
could be delivered.

The early termination of the QTE cross border lease has 
been another achievement for Airways. The lease was 
entered into on preferential terms and conditions, 
and we successfully exited it during a 
very narrow window when market 
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conditions were the most favourable for many years. 
Our corporate financial and treasury function acted 
with dexterity and speed to take full advantage of 
favourable conditions and deliver value to Airways and 
its shareholder. 

While it has been a year of satisfying growth and 
pleasing operational achievements, there were some 
areas where we did not achieve our targets.

The income achieved by the new Airways division, 
Global Services, was lower than forecast with less 
activity in the bespoke ANS consulting space than we 
have seen in recent years. There are strong positive 
signs for the future outlook of AGS. The growth of AGS 
will come from long term business initiatives delivering 
market leading products to the international ANSP 
market and moving away from consulting contracts. 
This year AGS launched the Flightyield Bureau Billing 
Service, partnering with Societe Internationale de 
Telecommunications Aeronautiques (SITA) and the Civil 
Air Navigation Services Organisation (CANSO) – this is 
now building a strong sales pipeline.

There have been changes at board level during the 
year. Our sincere thanks to Anthony Briscoe and 
Graeme Reeves, whose terms expired during the 
year, for their enormous contribution to Airways. Our 
new directors Chris Moxon, Robin Gunston and Grant 
Kemble have brought valuable skills and experience 
into our governance capability particularly in the 
areas of IT, international, risk management and legal-
commercial knowledge. 

Our business is heavily influenced by many factors 
outside of our control – as usual we’ve continued 
to provide essential services through extreme winds 
(which tore off the roof of our Wellington technical 
centre) and heavy snow. Throughout these events, and 
many, many other times during the year, our staff have 
responded with professionalism and commitment. We 
are fortunate to have staff of this calibre and thank 
them for their efforts during the year.

Susan Paterson 
Chairperson

Ed Sims  
Chief Executive
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Airways Board and Executive

Susan Paterson, Chairperson, BPharm, MBA 

Susan has been an independent director for the past 15 
years, was appointed to the Airways board in May 2006 
and became Chair in 2011. Having trained and practiced 
as a pharmacist, Susan completed a MBA at London 
Business School. Susan then worked in management roles 
in New Zealand and the UK. She worked overseas for 10 
years including strategy consulting for Boston-based Index 
Group throughout Europe and USA.

Susan is also Chair of Theta Systems Ltd and a director of 
the Electricity Authority, Goodman NZ, Abano Healthcare Ltd, 
Housing NZ Ltd, and Les Mills NZ Ltd. Previous directorships 
include Ports of Auckland Ltd, Transpower NZ Ltd, Auckland 
Regional Holdings, and Tower Health and Life. 

Susan has a keen interest in sport, education and the 
environment. She is Chair of Auckland Hockey, a past 
board member of St. Cuthbert’s College, EECA, and the  
NZ Eco-Labelling Trust, and a Fellow of the Institute  
of Directors.

David Park, Deputy Chair, BE (Hons), MSc, MBA 

David was appointed to the Airways board in January 
2010. A qualified aeronautical engineer, he has held senior 
flight operations management positions in two airlines and 
now provides aviation consulting advice to airports, airlines, 
and international aviation businesses. He is a member of 
the Royal Aeronautical Society, the Guild of Airline Pilots 
and Air Navigators and is a UK Chartered Engineer.

Susan Huria, Dip Journalism, Dip Marketing

Susan is a full time director and deputy chair of 
AgResearch, director of Watercare Services, Northland 
Port Corporation, Veterinary Enterprises Group, Ngai 
Tahu Property and a trustee of First Foundation. She 
is a Fellow of the Public Relations Institute of New 
Zealand and an Accredited Member of the New Zealand 
Institute of Directors. Her background is in marketing and 
communications and she has spent the last 15 years 
working with Maori entities through her company Huria 
Anders. She is a trustee of First Foundation and an  
advisory board member at the Maori Governance Centre, 
Waikato University.

Terry Murdoch 

Terry was appointed to the Airways board in 2009. He is 
the chief executive and director of Pacific Jets Ltd. He has 
more than 25 years experience in general aviation and has 
represented the industry on a number of committees and 
advisory groups. He is a commercial pilot holding flight 
examiner and instructor ratings. He is also an Accredited 
Member of the New Zealand Institute of Directors.

Susan Putt, BCom CA 

Susan was appointed to the Airways board in 2008. She 
has financial and strategic management experience and is 
a qualified Chartered Accountant. Susan has held senior 
management positions such as Chief Financial Officer and 
Strategy Manager in various companies. She is a member of 
the New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants and an 

Susan Putt Robin GunstonSusan Huria Terry MurdochSusan Paterson 
Chair

David Park  
Deputy Chair
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Accredited Member of the New Zealand Institute of Directors. 

Robin Gunston, BSc (Hons), ACII 

Robin was appointed to the Airways board in December 
2012. He is a director on two SME boards and is Chair of 
the SafeHere Trust. He has had considerable experience 
on not-for-profit boards, including in recent years the 
Association of NGOs in Aotearoa and the Futures Trust.

Robin is a chemical engineer with wide international 
experience in the design, construction and operation of 
oil and petrochemical facilities. He specialised in safety 
engineering, loss prevention and risk management. Since 
1998 Robin has been an independent management 
consultant specialising in business development, risk 
and insurance, and long term strategic futuring for both 
government and business organisations. He currently has a 
part time strategic and leadership role as National Director 
of Prison Fellowship NZ.

Dr Chris Moxon, Ph.D, BSc (Hons) 

Chris was appointed to the Airways board in December 
2012. He brings international sales and executive level 
consulting experience to Airways. Chris has worked for 
multi-national software companies and global consulting 
practices. He is currently the Chief Executive of Accordo 
Group Ltd. His previous roles include Managing Director 
of Oracle New Zealand, Global Chief Executive of 
Methodware, and New Zealand Managing Partner of  
Ernst & Young Consulting. He holds a first class honours 

degree in engineering from Coventry University and a  
Ph.D from the University of Sheffield, UK.

Grant Kemble, LLB (Hons), BCom

Grant was appointed to the Airways board in May 2013. 
He is a lawyer, specialising in commercial and corporate 
law, and works with a range of international and domestic 
clients over a number of industries, including listed 
companies. Grant is a partner at Russell McVeagh and 
has previously been the chairman of the board of Russell 
McVeagh, and a director of Integria Healthcare Limited.

Executive
Ed Sims, Chief Executive

Pauline Lamb, General Manager, System Operator

Russell Hulstrom, General Manager,  
Airways Global Services

Mark Loveard, Chief Financial Officer  
and General Manager Shared Services

Dr Chris Moxon Grant Kemble Ed Sims Pauline Lamb Russell 
Hulstrom

Mark Loveard
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The financial commentary below includes the performance against key targets for 2013  
as set out in the Airways Statement of Corporate Intent (SCI).

SuMMARy of fINANCIAL PERfoRMANCE

The Airways Group reported a $21.8 million net operating profit after tax (NOPAT) for 2013 compared to  
$9.3 million for the previous financial year. The strong financial result was influenced by the early termination  
of Airways’ Cross Border Lease (QTE Lease) resulting in the release of deferred income of $18.8 million and,  
after allowing for termination costs and tax, contributing $12.8 million of NOPAT.

Group NOPAT, before the impact of the QTE lease termination, was $9.0 million. This is a favourable result compared to 
the previous year’s result of $8.4 million due mainly to tight cost control in the System Operator business. The Airways 
Global Services business (AGS) financial result was lower than the previous year due to a 34% drop in revenue, 
following the completion of a major contract in December 2012. 

Airways incurred $1.4 million of costs in the financial year delivering the Airways’ transformation project. These costs 
were well below the $4.8 million budget, largely through being able to retain key staff in the new operating model. 

Safety is Airways’ top priority and there were no high risk incidents during the year.

Table 1 – Breakdown of NoPAT and revenue ($NZ millions)

Business unit NoPAT Revenue

2013 2012 2013 2012

System Operator (Statutory1 and Other Services) 9.6 7.0 154.3 149.4

Airways Global Services 0.8 2.8 9.3 14.0

Transition to new business model (1.4) (1.4) - -

Group NOPAT before QTE lease 9.0 8.4 163.6 163.4

QTE lease 12.8 0.9 19.7 0.9

Group NOPAT 21.8 9.3 183.3 164.3

Airways invested $23.6 million in service enhancement and capital expenditure projects during the year, 
a 32% increase over the previous financial year. Key projects making up this expenditure included the 
Performance Based Navigation (PBN) programme, the Southern Automatic Dependent Surveillance-Broadcast 
(ADS-B) project which will extend controlled airspace over Dunedin, Invercargill and the Tasman Sea by 
November 2013, upgrade of various distant measurement equipment (DME) navigation aids, Auckland 
Airport communication upgrade, various airfield lighting enhancements and air traffic control system upgrades. 
Airways’ service enhancement and capital programme will deliver significant benefits to customers including 
fuel savings from more efficient flight profiles, capacity enhancements in controlled airspace and improved 
on-time performance and management of aircraft. 

Table 2 – Performance against SCI financial Performance targets ($NZ millions)

Airways’ financial performance in 2013 has exceeded the SCI profitability targets.

SCI Target - Airways Group SCI Target Actual Status

Group NOPAT 5.4 21.8 Achieved

Group Return on Equity 11% 38% Achieved

Note: 2012 comparative figures reflect the new structure effective 1 July 2012

our Group profit 
of $21.8 million 
exceeded our  

SCI target.

There were no 
high risk incidents 
during the year. 

In 2012-13 we 
invested $23.6 

million in service 
enhancement and 
capital expenditure 
projects which was  
a 32% increase over 

the prior year. 

1  Airways’ System Operator Statutory business is an innovative provider of air navigation services enabling aircraft to navigate safely and efficiently across the New 
Zealand aviation network. Prices for these statutory services are set using methods recommended by the Commerce Commission. The return on capital for this 
business represents the return to providers of capital from an Economic Value Added accounting perspective. 
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SySTEM oPERAToR

The System Operator business unit contributed $9.6 million of NOPAT which was $2.6 million higher than the prior 
year. This result was driven predominantly by higher revenues and a continued focus on cost control. 

Overall System Operator revenue of $154.3 million for the year was $4.9 million higher than the previous financial 
year. System Operator Statutory Services Revenue, which makes up 91% of System Operator revenue, increased  
by $2.5 million primarily as a result of a 1.8% price increase. The number of billable flights in Airways’ airspace  
has remained relatively flat across the last three financial years which is represented in graph 1 below.

Other System Operator revenue was $2.4 million higher than the previous year due mainly to airfield development work  
in Papua New Guinea and equipment installation projects for the Royal New Zealand Air Force and around the Pacific. 

During the 2013 year Airways completed an extensive pricing consultation process for the provision of ANS  
services for the three year period ending June 2016. This process concluded in May 2013 with new prices  
coming into effect from 1 July 2013. The new prices are designed to ensure investment in essential service 
enhancements and the transition to new technology. Both will be delivered over the coming years. 

System Operator expenditure for 2013 of $141.4 million increased by $1.9 million from last financial year and, 
after adjusting for a one off asset impairment cost of $1.5 million, represents a 0.3% increase in costs2. This is a 
pleasing result with Airways continuing to keep a tight focus on cost control during a period of major transformation.  
Airways successfully delivered cost efficiency initiatives during the year including optimising the equipment maintenance programme 
using specialised computer software, initiation of a procurement programme to review major supplier contracts and continued focus 
on ensuring efficient rostering practices.

The real costs 
in our System 

operator business 
fell by 0.4%. 

2  Airways System Operator costs prior to a one off asset impairment increased by 0.3%. This compares to annual inflation for the year ended 
30 June 2013 of 0.7%. This represents a 0.4% decrease in real costs.

The return on 
capital employed 
for our System 

operator statutory 
business was 

6.02%. 

Graph 1 - Billable flights in New Zealand’s airspace (12 month rolling average)
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International comparison data collated by the Civil Air Navigation Services Organisation (CANSO), the global association of air 
navigation service providers, indicates that Airways consistently delivers a world-class service, ranking among the top ANS providers in 
the world for price and cost efficiency measures. Airways costs are the fifth lowest of CANSO members, as shown in graph 2 below.

Service reliability was slightly lower than the target level due largely to a combination of weather related outages in central New Zealand 
in June 2013 and equipment outages affecting the Auckland low visibility lighting service in August 2012, Christchurch Approach Service 
in January 2013, and the Oceanic Service for the Pacific Islands in May 2013. 

Customer satisfaction levels decreased slightly during the year from 78% to 75% and were also below the target level of 80%. 

During the year the System Operator business launched two new services, one providing real time flight information to airports and the 
other, a noise management service.

Shared Services costs represented 11.9% of total costs and were better than the budgeted level of 13.4% due to a continued tight 
focus on costs and more cost efficient ways of delivering initiatives as part of the business transformation project.

Table 3 – Performance against SCI financial Performance and Business targets

Graph 2 - Costs $uSD per Instrument flight Rules (IfR) flight hour for both Continental and oceanic services
CANSo information released December 2012
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10.5%
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AIRwAyS GLoBAL SERVICES

Airways Global Services (AGS) NOPAT of $0.8 million is unfavourable compared to the previous financial 
year’s result of $2.8 million. This NOPAT variance was driven predominantly by a conscious decision to 
transition away from undertaking one-off projects to growing sustainable businesses as part of Airways’ 
transformation strategy, but was also driven by the conclusion of a multi-year project in Oman. This year AGS 
launched the Flightyield Bureau Billing Service, partnering with Societe Internationale de Telecommunications 
Aeronautiques (SITA) and CANSO – this continues to generate a lot of interest around the globe.

Airways’ training business continues to perform in a competitive international market. New contracts for 
ATC training were awarded for the Saudi National Guard, various short courses to Chinese customers and 
technical training in Oman.

QuALIfyING TECHNoLoGICAL  
EQuIPMENT LEASE (QTE)

During 2003 and 2004 Airways entered into a cross border 
lease of Skyline Air Traffic Management System and Surveillance 
Systems equipment. The arrangement was for 24 years and 
was to expire in 2027. Airways successfully terminated this lease 
early in July 2012 at a time when market conditions were at an 
all-time favourable position. The underlying assets associated 
with this lease were United States (US) long term treasury 
bonds which peak in value when the US 10-year bond rates are 
at their lowest point. This occurred at the same time as Airways 
exited the QTE lease, which culminated in an optimal exit value. 
This is represented in graph 3. A 1% increase in the US 10-year 
bond rate would have resulted in additional termination costs to 
Airways of US $7 million. 

The termination resulted in an increase in NOPAT of $12.8 million 
during the financial year with the release of deferred income 
from Airways’ balance sheet. The early termination provides 
Airways with more financial certainty and flexibility in progressing 
with the next generation of infrastructure investment.  

ouTLooK

The anticipated trends in the aviation market and industry which initiated the Airways transformation project in 2011 and 2012 have 
proven to be well founded. Specifically, airlines are increasingly vocal in demanding the faster rollout of new, efficiency-improving 
technologies which are not easily embraced by the traditional, highly-centralised air navigation services provider business model.  
This supports the System Operator strategy and increases the opportunities for Global Services to build new, technology-based 
businesses. The Airways Group of companies is forecasting an operating NOPAT of $14.6 million for the 2014 financial year and a 
further increase in the service enhancement and capital expenditure programme to $38.8 million. 

our flightyield 
Bureau Billing 
Service was 

launched and has 
generated a lot of 

interest around the 
globe. 

Graph 3 - uS 10-year bond rates
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SCI TARGET ACTuAL 2013

Profitability (values in $NZ thousands)

Total revenue 173,825 183,308

EBITDA 27,203 49,366

EBIT 10,336 32,357

NOPAT 5,407 21,761

Shareholder returns

Total Shareholder return 6.4% 6.4%

Dividend yield 1.5% 1.5%

Dividend payout 36.4% 31.9%

Return on equity 11.4% 38.0%

ROE, adj IFRS movements & asset revaluations 11.4% 37.1%

Profitability/efficiency

Return on capital employed 11.8% 37.1%

Return on assets 7.1% 22.2%

Operating margin 15.6% 26.9%

Net Profit margin 3.1% 11.9%

Asset turnover 1.1 1.2

Leverage/solvency

Equity multiplier 3.1 2.2

Gearing ratio (net) 45.3% 25.5%

Interest cover 9.6 22.9

Solvency (current ratio) 1.0 0.4

Growth/investment

Revenue growth 6.1% 11.6%

EBITDAF (8.1%) 64.3%

NOPAT growth (38.4%) 133.8%

Capital employed growth 19.3% 30.0%

Capital renewal 1.9 1.4

The significant differences between targets and actuals for the profitability and return metrics above are primarily the result of the early 
termination of Airways Qualifying Technological Equipment Lease, as described on the previous page.
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2012-13 Initiatives Progress to June 2013 Status

Airways Group

Implement the new business 
model 

A new business model established and implemented, effective from 1 July 2012. Achieved

System operator

Agree the 2013-16 pricing round 
The pricing consultation outcome was communicated to customers on 17 May 2013 after 
constructive informal discussions and the formal extensive consultation process. The price 
increase was effective 1 July 2013.

Achieved

Refresh the safety  
management programme 

The Safety Management System (SMS) refresh was completed by 30 June 2013 to 
not only meet the future CAA rule part amendments, but also to improve the SMS 
maturity level. The SMS elements will be a key reference for setting the 2013/14 Safety 
Management Plan and support the creation of a sustainable picture of safety in the business. 

Achieved

Launch two new services 
The first new service involving the provision of real time flight information to airports was 
launched in February 2013. The second, Airways Noise Services, was launched in June 2013.

Achieved

Global Services

Implement strict investment 
gating and management process 

The Airways Global Services Gating Framework was established. The management team 
has been appointed and the pipeline system is operational providing a single view of 
opportunities to assist with reporting, investment and prioritisation. 

Achieved

Create a profitable presence in 
key markets 

Business development resources have been established in Dubai and the United Kingdom, 
and a contract has also been established with a European-based analyst to represent 
Airways’ interests in Europe. 

In progress

Establish an innovative 
investment origination process 

The Global Services management team has driven the agenda and taken an innovative 
approach with a proposed Aeronautical Information Management (AIM) joint venture business.

Achieved

Progress three new businesses 
in incubation 

The Flightyield Bureau Billing Service was launched in February 2013, the Training business 
continues to perform and a new AIM business is being created. 

In progress

Shared Services

Streamline services to meet 
the different customer needs 
of System Operator and Global 
Services 

A Customer Management Framework was introduced with members of Shared Services 
embedded in all key management teams, Lync desktop video-conferencing was 
implemented for improved communication across the organisation, wireless network 
access was rolled out in Wellington, Christchurch and Auckland, and initial phases of 
the Christchurch Campus open plan alterations have been completed. 

Achieved

Right first time processes 

The Financial Management Information System project successfully completed its  
design phase on time and has now moved into the build phase. The project is targeting  
a go-live date of 1 November 2013. It will significantly improve financial processes across 
the business.

Achieved

Refresh processes to make them 
customer focused and fit for 
purpose 

The SharePoint remediation project has evaluated a range of options for returning Airways 
to a standard, non-customised version of SharePoint in the most cost effective and lowest 
risk manner. A prototype is being set up and will be tested with a pilot group next financial year.

In progress

Lead establishing the spirit and 
purpose 

A Strategy for Airways People has been drafted. Some of the first initiatives include three 
workshops for the top 70 leaders in the business – the workshops have been held and are 
designed to ensure our key leaders understand the business strategy and to ensure they 
have the skills and tools to articulate the strategy in a meaningful way to Airways people. 

In progress
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STATEMENTS of CoMPREHENSIVE INCoME  NZ IfRS

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 20 to 57.

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

GRouP PARENT

foR THE yEAR ENDED 30 JuNE 2013 2012 2013 2012 NoTES

oPERATING ACTIVITIES 

REVENUE 

Airways charges 143,949 141,083 143,949 137,703

Other income 39,291 23,079 37,715 29,577 4

Interest income 68 93 68 93

183,308 164,255 181,732 167,373

EXPENSE 

Depreciation 15,149 13,491 14,156 11,949 12

Amortisation 1,860 1,345 1,265 672 13

Employee remuneration 96,473 96,985 96,473 96,985 5

Employee related costs 3,751 3,886 3,751 3,886

Other operating costs 27,356 28,375 31,115 38,316 6

Rental expense on operating leases 6,371 4,963 6,371 6,176

Interest expense 2,172 2,261 2,197 2,249

Reversal of investment impairment - - (9) - 27

Share of (profit) from Joint Venture (9) - - - 28

153,123 151,306 155,319 160,233

NET SuRPLuS BEfoRE TAXATIoN 30,185 12,949 26,413 7,140

Taxation expense (8,424) (3,642) (7,676) (2,012) 8

NET SuRPLuS AfTER TAXATIoN  
ATTRIBuTABLE To EQuITy SHAREHoLDERS 21,761 9,307 18,737 5,128

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

That will subsequently be reclassified to  
Profit or Loss when conditions are met:

Movement on foreign exchange cash flow hedge reserve 138 (1,059) 138 (1,059)

Movement on interest rate derivative cash flow hedge reserve 1,372 (1,476) 1,372 (1,476)

Deferred tax for current year on other comprehensive income (423) 710 (423) 710 8

That will not subsequently be reclassified to Profit or Loss:

Retained earnings transferred from amalgamated subsidiary - - 82 - 26

ToTAL oTHER CoMPREHENSIVE INCoME 1,087 (1,825) 1,169 (1,825)

ToTAL CoMPREHENSIVE INCoME foR THE yEAR 22,848 7,482 19,906 3,303

ATTRIBUTABLE TO: 

Equity shareholders 22,848 7,482 19,906 3,303
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STATEMENTS of CHANGES IN EQuITy NZ IfRS

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 20 to 57.

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

GRouP 
ATTRIBuTABLE To EQuITy SHAREHoLDERS

CoNTRIBuTED 
EQuITy

HEDGE 
RESERVE

RETAINED 
PRofITS ToTAL NoTES

BALANCE AS AT 30 JuNE 2011 41,100 (134) 3,409 44,375

CoMPREHENSIVE INCoME 

Net surplus after taxation - - 9,307 9,307

oTHER CoMPREHENSIVE INCoME 

RECLASSIFICATION OF EFFECTIVE PORTION  
OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE HEDGES TO: 

Property, plant & equipment - (51) - (51)

Net surplus before taxation - (1,332) - (1,332)

MOVEMENT IN VALUE OF:

New foreign exchange hedges - 132 - 132

Foreign exchange hedges held throughout the year - (11) - (11)

New interest rate hedges - 71 - 71

Interest rate hedges held throughout the year - (1,344) - (1,344)

Deferred tax for prior year on other comprehensive income - 710 - 710 19

ToTAL oTHER CoMPREHENSIVE INCoME - (1,825) - (1,825)

ToTAL CoMPREHENSIVE INCoME - (1,825) 9,307 7,482

TRANSACTIoNS wITH owNERS 

Dividends paid (12.2 cents per share) - - (5,000) (5,000)

ToTAL TRANSACTIoNS wITH owNERS - - (5,000) (5,000)

BALANCE AS AT 30 JuNE 2012 41,100 (1,959) 7,716 46,857
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STATEMENTS of CHANGES IN EQuITy (CoNT.) NZ IfRS

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 20 to 57.

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

GRouP 
ATTRIBuTABLE To EQuITy SHAREHoLDERS

CoNTRIBuTED 
EQuITy

HEDGE 
RESERVE

RETAINED 
PRofITS ToTAL NoTES

BALANCE AS AT 30 JuNE 2012 41,100 (1,959) 7,716 46,857

CoMPREHENSIVE INCoME 

Net surplus after taxation - - 21,761 21,761

oTHER CoMPREHENSIVE INCoME 

RECLASSIFICATION OF EFFECTIVE PORTION OF FOREIGN 
EXCHANGE HEDGES TO: 

Property, plant & equipment - 77 - 77

Net surplus before taxation - 205 - 205

MOVEMENT IN VALUE OF:

New foreign exchange hedges - 72 - 72

Foreign exchange hedges held throughout the year - 28 - 28

New interest rate hedges - 92 - 92

Interest rate hedges held throughout the year - 1,036 - 1,036

Deferred tax for current year on other comprehensive income - (423) - (423) 19

ToTAL oTHER CoMPREHENSIVE INCoME - 1,087 - 1,087

ToTAL CoMPREHENSIVE INCoME - 1,087 21,761 22,848

TRANSACTIoNS wITH owNERS 

Dividends paid (4.9 cents per share) - - (2,000) (2,000)

ToTAL TRANSACTIoNS wITH owNERS - - (2,000) (2,000)

BALANCE AS AT 30 JuNE 2013 41,100 (872) 27,477 67,705
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STATEMENTS of CHANGES IN EQuITy (CoNT.) NZ IfRS

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 20 to 57.

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

PARENT 
ATTRIBuTABLE To EQuITy SHAREHoLDERS

CoNTRIBuTED 
EQuITy

HEDGE 
RESERVE

RETAINED 
PRofITS ToTAL NoTES

BALANCE AS AT 30 JuNE 2011 41,100 (134) 410 41,376

CoMPREHENSIVE INCoME

Net surplus after taxation - - 5,128 5,128

oTHER CoMPREHENSIVE INCoME 

RECLASSIFICATION OF EFFECTIVE PORTION  
OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE HEDGES TO:

Property, plant & equipment - (51) - (51)

Net surplus before taxation - (1,332) - (1,332)

MOVEMENT IN VALUE OF:

New foreign exchange hedges - 132 - 132

Foreign exchange hedges held throughout the year - (11) - (11)

New interest rate hedges - 71 - 71

Interest rate hedges held throughout the year - (1,344) - (1,344)

Deferred tax for prior year on other comprehensive income - 710 - 710 19

ToTAL oTHER CoMPREHENSIVE INCoME - (1,825) - (1,825)

ToTAL CoMPREHENSIVE INCoME - (1,825) 5,128 3,303

TRANSACTIoNS wITH owNERS

Dividends paid (12.2 cents per share) - - (5,000) (5,000)

ToTAL TRANSACTIoNS wITH owNERS - - (5,000) (5,000)

BALANCE AS AT 30 JuNE 2012 41,100 (1,959) 538 39,679
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STATEMENTS of CHANGES IN EQuITy (CoNT.) NZ IfRS

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 20 to 57.

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

Share Capital – The Parent has capital of $41.1 million (2012: $41.1 million) issued ordinary shares which confer on the holders the 
right to vote at any general meeting of Shareholders. This consists of 41,100,000 authorised ordinary shares. 

The Cash Flow Hedge Reserve records the portion of the gain or loss on a hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge that is determined 
to be an effective hedge. 

PARENT 
ATTRIBuTABLE To EQuITy SHAREHoLDERS

CoNTRIBuTED 
EQuITy

HEDGE  
RESERVE

RETAINED  
PRofITS ToTAL NoTES 

BALANCE AS AT 30 JuNE 2012 41,100 (1,959) 538 39,679

CoMPREHENSIVE INCoME

Net surplus after taxation - - 18,737 18,737

oTHER CoMPREHENSIVE INCoME 

RECLASSIFICATION OF EFFECTIVE PORTION OF FOREIGN 
EXCHANGE HEDGES TO:

Property, plant & equipment - 77 - 77

Net surplus before taxation - 205 - 205

MOVEMENT IN VALUE OF:

New foreign exchange hedges - 72 - 72

Foreign exchange hedges held throughout the year - 28 - 28

New interest rate hedges - 92 - 92

Interest rate hedges held throughout the year - 1,036 - 1,036

Deferred tax for current year on other comprehensive income - (423) - (423) 19

Retained earnings arising on amalgamation of subsidiary - - 82 82 26

ToTAL oTHER CoMPREHENSIVE INCoME - 1,087 82 1,169

ToTAL CoMPREHENSIVE INCoME - 1,087 18,819 19,906

TRANSACTIoNS wITH owNERS

Dividends paid (4.9 cents per share) - - (2,000) (2,000)

ToTAL TRANSACTIoNS wITH owNERS - - (2,000) (2,000)

BALANCE AS AT 30 JuNE 2013 41,100 (872) 17,357 57,585
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BALANCE SHEETS NZ IfRS

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 20 to 57.

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

GRouP PARENT

AS AT 30 JuNE 2013 2012 2013 2012 NoTES

ASSETS 

CURRENT ASSETS 

Cash and cash equivalents 6,826 5,792 6,826 5,792 9

Trade and other receivables 18,882 20,884 13,534 19,002 11

Prepayments 1,173 1,117 1,173 1,117

Derivative financial instruments 367 523 367 523 10

ToTAL CuRRENT ASSETS 27,248 28,316 21,900 26,434

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

Property, plant and equipment 113,762 109,234 110,438 101,620 12

Intangibles 5,696 4,040 4,190 1,394 13

Investments - - - 100 28

Inventory 1,455 1,349 1,373 1,253

Other non-current assets 84 84 83 84

Derivative financial instruments 317 23 317 23 10

ToTAL NoN-CuRRENT ASSETS 121,314 114,730 116,401 104,474

ToTAL ASSETS 148,562 143,046 138,301 130,908

LIABILITIES 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Trade and other payables 9,749 8,299 11,357 6,234 14

Employee entitlements 18,869 20,488 18,869 20,488 15

Provisions 1,115 1,035 1,115 1,035 16

Current tax liability 3,909 1,810 2,896 12 18

Deferred income - 18,840 - 18,840 24

Loan facility - unsecured 30,000 - 30,000 - 17

Derivative financial instruments 211 455 211 455 10

ToTAL CuRRENT LIABILITIES 63,853 50,927 64,448 47,064
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BALANCE SHEETS (CoNT.) NZ IfRS

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 20 to 57.

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

The Board of Directors of Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited authorised these financial statements for issue on 28 August 2013.

SuSAN PATERSoN    SuSAN PuTT 
Chairperson   Director 
28 August 2013   28 August 2013 

GRouP PARENT

AS AT 30 JuNE 2013 2012 2013 2012 NoTES

NoN-CuRRENT LIABILITIES  

Deferred taxation 7,722 7,876 6,986 6,779 19

Employee entitlements 7,801 7,906 7,801 7,906 15

Derivative financial instruments 1,481 2,480 1,481 2,480 10

Loan facility - unsecured - 27,000 - 27,000 17

ToTAL NoN-CuRRENT LIABILITIES 17,004 45,262 16,268 44,165

ToTAL LIABILITIES 80,857 96,189 80,716 91,229

NET ASSETS 67,705 46,857 57,585 39,679

EQuITy 

Share capital 41,100 41,100 41,100 41,100

Reserves (872) (1,959) (872) (1,959)

Retained earnings 27,477 7,716 17,357 538

ToTAL EQuITy 67,705 46,857 57,585 39,679
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STATEMENTS of CASH fLowS NZ IfRS

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 20 to 57.

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

GRouP PARENT

foR THE yEAR ENDED 30 JuNE  2013 2012 2013 2012 NoTES

CASH fLowS fRoM oPERATING ACTIVITIES 

CASH WAS PROVIDED FROM: 

Receipts from customers 166,690 159,757 148,317 155,066

Interest received 47 84 47 84

CASH WAS APPLIED TO: 

Payments to suppliers (33,905) (35,520) (18,113) (33,103)

Payments to employees (100,254) (95,567) (100,233) (95,567)

Interest paid (2,159) (2,233) (2,184) (2,222)

Goods and services tax (262) 581 (63) 219

Income tax (paid)/received (6,869) (3,225) (5,008) (3,168)

NET CASH fLowS fRoM oPERATING ACTIVITIES 23,288 23,877 22,763 21,309 30

CASH fLowS fRoM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

CASH WAS PROVIDED FROM: 

Sale of property, plant and equipment 398 22 394 4

CASH WAS APPLIED TO: 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (20,135) (16,651) (19,645) (14,366)

Purchase of intangible assets (3,517) (1,310) (3,478) (1,008)

NET CASH fLowS fRoM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (23,254) (17,939) (22,729) (15,370)

CASH fLowS fRoM fINANCING ACTIVITIES 

CASH WAS PROVIDED FROM: 

Drawdown of loan facility 3,000 - 3,000 -

CASH WAS APPLIED TO: 

Repayment of loan facility - (3,000) - (3,000)

Payment of dividends (2,000) (5,000) (2,000) (5,000)

NET CASH fLowS fRoM fINANCING ACTIVITIES 1,000 (8,000) 1,000 (8,000)

NET INCREASE IN CASH HELD 1,034 (2,062) 1,034 (2,061)

Cash at the beginning of the year 5,792 7,854 5,792 7,853

CASH AT THE END of THE yEAR 6,826 5,792 6,826 5,792
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NoTES To THE fINANCIAL STATEMENTS NZ IfRS

NoTE 1 REPoRTING ENTITy 

Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in New Zealand. The address of 
its registered office is Level 26, Majestic Centre, 100 Willis St, Wellington, New Zealand. Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited is  
a State-Owned Enterprise established under the State-Owned Enterprises Act 1986 with shares held in equal numbers by the Minister 
for State-Owned Enterprises and the Minister of Finance, on behalf of the Crown.

These Group consolidated financial statements are for Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited (ACNZ) and its wholly owned 
subsidiaries, Airways International Limited (AIL) and Airways Training Limited (ATL). During the period, ACNZ terminated its involvement 
in a cross border lease, as set out in Note 24. Following this termination, Airways Equipment Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of 
ACNZ and a party to the cross border lease, was amalgamated with its parent (refer Note 26 for further details). All companies are 
registered under the Companies Act 1993. 

Airways refers to the “Group”: Airways Corporation of New Zealand, as well as its wholly owned subsidiaries. The term “Parent” refers  
to Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited as a separate legal entity.

ACNZ and its subsidiaries are designated as profit-oriented entities for financial reporting purposes.

Airways’ principal business is the provision of air traffic management services, associated aviation infrastructure services and the 
production and sale of aviation related publications within New Zealand.

In addition to this, Airways is involved in international: 
i. air navigation services and maintenance of systems 
ii. consultancy 
iii. training, and 
iv. software development, sales and implementation.

NoTE 2 BASIS of PREPARATIoN

(A) STATEMENT of CoMPLIANCE

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in New Zealand. They comply 
with the New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS) and other applicable Financial Reporting 
Standards, as appropriate for profit oriented entities. The financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.

The financial statements have also been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Financial Reporting Act 1993, Companies 
Act 1993 and the State-Owned Enterprises Act 1986.

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 28 August 2013.

(B) BASIS of MEASuREMENT

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis as modified by the revaluation of derivative financial instruments.

(C) fuNCTIoNAL AND PRESENTATIoN CuRRENCy

Items included in the financial statements of each of Airways’ entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which it operates (‘the functional currency’), which is New Zealand dollars. The consolidated financial statements  
are presented in New Zealand dollars, which is Airways’ presentation currency and all values unless otherwise stated are rounded  
to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).
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NoTES To THE fINANCIAL STATEMENTS NZ IfRS

NoTE 2 BASIS of PREPARATIoN (CoNT.)

(D) uSE of CRITICAL ACCouNTING ESTIMATES AND JuDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenditure. Actual results may differ  
from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are evaluated on an on-going basis based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the accounting period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty, and critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have 
the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements, are described in the following notes:

 (i) CoNTRACT REVENuE

  Airways applies contract specific judgement in order to determine the amount of revenue to recognise for projects in progress, 
using milestone and stage of completion information in order to calculate the amount of revenue to recognise. Refer to note 
3(C) for accounting policy.

 (ii) fINANCIAL INSTRuMENTS

 Airways uses an independent external party to provide specialised market valuations aligned to standard accounting practices.

 Refer to notes 3(K) and 21 for accounting policy and treatment.

 (iii) EMPLoyEE ENTITLEMENTS

  Long service leave and retirement leave are both long term employee benefits. These are measured annually by an external 
actuary who uses data provided by Airways, the most current prescribed Treasury rates and demographic assumptions based  
on the experience of the Government Superannuation Fund. Refer to notes 3(R) and 15 for accounting policy and treatment.

(E) STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIoNS AND AMENDMENTS To EXISTING STANDARDS THAT HAVE BEEN ADoPTED By AIRwAyS

Amendment to NZIAS1 (2012), ‘Financial statement presentation’ regarding Other Comprehensive Income (effective for periods beginning 
on or after 1 July 2012). The main change resulting from these amendments is a requirement to group items in Other Comprehensive 
Income on the basis of whether or not they will, or could, be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.

(f)  STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIoNS To EXISTING STANDARDS THAT ARE NoT yET EffECTIVE AND HAVE 

NoT BEEN EARLy ADoPTED By AIRwAyS

The following standards and amendments to existing standards have been published and are mandatory for accounting periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2013 or later periods, but Airways has not early adopted them: 

  (i) NZ IFRS 9 (2010), ‘Financial instruments’, issued in December 2010 (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2015, with early adoption allowed). NZ IFRS 9 (2010) supersedes the 2009 version of the same standard and replaces the 
multiple classification and measurement models in NZ IAS 39 with a single model that has only two classification categories: 
amortised cost and fair value. Classification under NZ IFRS 9 will be driven by an entity’s business model for managing the 
financial assets and the contractual characteristics of the financial assets. There will be no impact on Airways accounting for 
financial liabilities, as the new requirements only affect the accounting for financial liabilities that are designated as at fair 
value through profit or loss, of which Airways has none. It is not expected to have a material impact on the Groups’ financial 
statements.

  (ii) NZ IFRS 11, ‘Joint Arrangements’, issued in June 2011 (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 with early 
adoption allowed). This standard makes a distinction between joint ventures and joint operations and requires the accounting 
to reflect the contractual rights and obligations agreed by the parties. It is not expected to have a material impact on Airways 
financial statements.

  (iii) NZ IFRS 13, ‘Fair Value Measurement’, issued in June 2011 (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 with 
early adoption allowed). This standard establishes a single, unified definition of fair value and sets out the required disclosure 
relating to fair value measurements. Given the limited extent of Airways’ fair value measurement and reporting, this standard is 
not expected to have a material impact on Airways’ financial statements. 
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NoTES To THE fINANCIAL STATEMENTS NZ IfRS

NoTE 2 BASIS of PREPARATIoN (CoNT.)

  (iv) NZ IAS 28, ‘Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures’, issued June 2011 (effective for periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2013 with early adoption allowed). This standard provides a definition of significant influence over investees and 
establishes a requirement to use the equity method of accounting where significant influence or joint control exists. Given 
Airways currently adopts the equity method of accounting for associates and joint ventures, this standard is not expected to  
have a material impact on Airways’ financial statements.

  (v) NZ IFRS 10, ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’, issued June 2011 (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2013 with early adoption allowed). This standard builds on existing principles by identifying the concept of control as the 
determining factor in whether an entity should be included in the consolidated financial statements of the parent company. 
Given the simplicity of ACNZ’s interests in subsidiaries and other investments, this standard is not expected to have a material 
impact on Airways’ financial statements.

  (vi) Annual Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle, issued June 2011 (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 
with early adoption allowed). This cycle includes improvements to various accounting standards and is not expected to have a 
material impact on Airways’ financial statements.

NoTE 3 SuMMARy of SIGNIfICANT ACCouNTING PoLICIES

(A) BASIS of CoNSoLIDATIoN

 (i) SuBSIDIARIES

  Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over which Airways has the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. Subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to Airways. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

  The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by Airways. The cost of an acquisition 
is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments used and liability incurred or assumed at the exchange 
rate, and acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities 
assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent 
of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of Airways share of the identifiable net assets 
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, 
the difference is recognised directly on the statement of comprehensive income.

  Inter-company transactions, balances, income and expenses on transactions between Airways companies are eliminated. Profits 
and losses resulting from inter-company transactions that are recognised in assets or liabilities are also eliminated. Accounting 
policies of subsidiaries are consistent with the policies adopted by Airways and all subsidiaries share a 30 June balance date.  
The parent recognises its investment in subsidiaries at cost, less impairment.

 (ii) JoINT VENTuRES

  Airways interests in jointly controlled entities are accounted for using the equity method of consolidation. Airways’ share of  
its joint venture post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, and its share of  
post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted 
against the carrying value of the investment. When Airways’ share of losses in a joint venture equals or exceeds its interests  
in the joint venture, including any unsecured receivables, Airways does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred 
obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint venture.

 (iii) BuSINESS CoMBINATIoNS uNDER CoMMoN CoNTRoL

  Business combinations under common control are accounted for prospectively from the date ownership interests are obtained.  
On acquisition, assets and liabilities are recognised at their carrying amounts and any difference between the fair value of any 
consideration paid and the recorded value of assets and liabilities is recognised directly in equity.
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NoTES To THE fINANCIAL STATEMENTS NZ IfRS

NoTE 3 SuMMARy of SIGNIfICANT ACCouNTING PoLICIES (CoNT.)

(B) foREIGN CuRRENCy TRANSLATIoN

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 
Monetary assets and liabilities held in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate at balance date.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates  
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, except 
when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges.

(C) REVENuE RECoGNITIoN

Revenue comprises the fair value for the sale of goods and services, excluding Goods and Services Tax, rebates and discounts and after 
eliminating sales within Airways. Revenue is recognised as follows:

 (i) SALES of PRoDuCTS

  Airways follows the principles of NZ IAS 18, “Revenue recognition”, in determining appropriate revenue policies. In principle, 
therefore, revenue associated with sale of products is recognised when all the following conditions have been satisfied:

  - Airways has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the products;

  -  Airways does not retain either continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership or 
effective control over the products sold;

  - The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

  - It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to Airways; and 

  - The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the sale can be measured reliably.

 (ii) AIR SERVICE CHARGES AND oTHER SERVICES

 Revenue associated with the rendering of services is recognised when all the following conditions have been satisfied:

  - The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

  - It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to Airways;

  - The stage of completion of the transaction at the end of the reporting period can be measured reliably; and 

  - The costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be measured reliably. 

 (iii) INTEREST INCoME

 Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method.

(D) CuRRENT AND DEfERRED INCoME TAX

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent it relates to  
items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is recognised in other comprehensive income  
or directly in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantially enacted at the balance sheet date of the 
countries where Airways subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions 
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation, and establishes provisions 
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities 
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred income tax is not recognised if it arises from initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction affects neither 
accounting nor taxable profit nor loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially 
enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred 
income tax liability is settled. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the 
temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where the timing 
of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by Airways and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future.
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NoTES To THE fINANCIAL STATEMENTS NZ IfRS

NoTE 3 SuMMARy of SIGNIfICANT ACCouNTING PoLICIES (CoNT.)

(E) LEASES

Airways leases certain land, buildings, plant and equipment.

Operating lease payments, where the lessors effectively retain the risks and benefits of ownership of the leased items, are included  
in the statement of comprehensive income on a straight line basis over the lease term.

(f) IMPAIRMENT of NoN-fINANCIAL ASSETS

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are 
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating units).

(G) CASH AND CASH EQuIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held on call with financial institutions, other short term, highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject 
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the 
balance sheet.

(H) TRADE ACCouNTS RECEIVABLE

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, less provision for impairment.

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off. A provision 
for doubtful receivables is established when there is objective evidence that Airways will not be able to collect some or all amounts due 
according to the original terms. The amount of the provision is dependent on the age of the debt and specific debtor circumstances.  
For the Global and non-statutory business, debt which is greater than 90 days old but less than one year is discounted at the average 
cost of capital. Debt which is greater than one year old but less than two years old is discounted by 50% of the carrying value. Debt 
which is greater than two years old is discounted by 100% of the carrying value. The amount of the provision is recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income.

(I) INVENToRy

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a weighted average cost basis. Net realisable value  
is the estimated selling price less applicable variable selling expenses.

(J) INVESTMENTS AND oTHER fINANCIAL ASSETS 

Airways classifies its financial assets in the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, and loans and receivables. 
The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. Management determines the classification of its 
investments at initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at every reporting date.

 (i) fINANCIAL ASSETS AT fAIR VALuE THRouGH PRofIT oR LoSS

  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is classified in this category 
if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. Derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are 
designated as hedges. Assets in this category as classified as current assets if expected to be settled within 12 months, otherwise 
they are classified as non-current. Airways has no financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss at balance date.
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 (ii) LoANS AND RECEIVABLES

  Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. They arise when Airways provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention of selling the 
receivable. They are included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet 
date which are classified as non-current assets. Loans and receivables are included in ‘trade and other receivables’ and ‘cash and 
cash equivalents’ in the balance sheet.

  Regular purchases and sales of investments are recognised on trade date - the date on which Airways commits to purchase 
or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair 
value through profit or loss. Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value, and 
transaction costs are expensed in the statement of comprehensive income. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights 
to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have been transferred and Airways has transferred substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership. Loans and receivables are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method. 

  Airways assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets 
is impaired. Refer Note 3(H) and 11.

(K) DERIVATIVE fINANCIAL INSTRuMENTS

Airways uses Forward Exchange Contracts to hedge expenditure and revenue denominated in foreign currency. Airways also uses 
Interest Rate Swaps and Caps to hedge interest repayments on its term debt.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-valued to their 
fair value. The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on the nature of the relationship between the derivative and the 
item being hedged. Airways designates derivatives as hedges of highly probable forecast transactions (cash flow hedges).

At the inception of the transaction, Airways documents the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items as well as its 
risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. Airways also documents an assessment, both at 
hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions have been and will continue 
to be highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of hedged items.

 (i) CASH fLow HEDGE

  The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in equity in 
the hedging reserve. Amounts accumulated in equity are transferred to the statement of comprehensive income when 
the hedged item affects profit and loss (for example, when the forecast sale that is hedged takes place). Offsetting this, 
when the forecast transaction that is hedged occurs, the gains or losses previously deferred in equity are also transferred 
to the statement of comprehensive income. For forecast items that are fully hedged and 100% effective, the net effect 
on the statement of comprehensive income is neutral (i.e. nil). When the forecast transaction that is hedged results in the 
recognition of a non-financial asset (for example, inventory or fixed assets), the gains or losses previously deferred in equity 
are transferred from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost of the asset.

  When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the entity revokes designation of the hedge 
relationship but the hedged forecast transaction still is expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss at that point remains 
in equity and is recognised in accordance with the above policy when the transaction occurs. If the hedged transaction is no 
longer expected to take place, then the cumulative unrealised effect recognised in equity is recognised immediately in the 
statement of comprehensive income.

(L) fAIR VALuE ESTIMATIoN

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for disclosure purposes.

The fair value of instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over the counter derivatives) is determined using 
valuation techniques. Airways uses its judgement to select a variety of methods and make assumptions that are mainly based on market 
conditions existing at the end of each reporting period.
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(M) PRoPERTy, PLANT AND EQuIPMENT

 (i) RECoGNITIoN AND MEASuREMENT

  All classes of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Cost is determined by including all costs directly 
associated with bringing the assets to their location in working condition. Capital work in progress includes all expenditure to 
date on all assets partially completed. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate 
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to Airways and the 
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any replaced parts is written off. Repairs and maintenance are 
charged to the statement of comprehensive income during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

  Gains or losses on the disposal of fixed assets are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income and are calculated 
as the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying value of the asset. If the recoverable amount of an item of 
property, plant and equipment is less than its carrying amount, the item is written down to its recoverable amount. The write 
down of an asset recorded at historical cost is recognised as an expense in the statement of comprehensive income.

 (ii) DEPRECIATIoN

  The cost of all fixed assets (excluding freehold land) less their estimated residual value is written off on a straight line basis over 
the estimated useful economic life of all property, plant and equipment other than freehold land and capital work in progress. 
Estimated useful lives are reviewed annually to consider factors that may affect economic life including, but not limited to:

 1. Deterioration through use 
 2. The effects of the physical environment 
 3. Obsolescence through technological development 
 4. Lease terms or other contractual arrangements.

The estimated useful economic lives are as follows:

DEPRECIATED RANGE ACTuAL wEIGHTED AVERAGE

Land not depreciated not depreciated

Buildings structure: 

Freehold 10-40 years 30

Leasehold 8-40 years 31

Computers and furniture 3-25 years 9

Plant and equipment 3-30 years 15

Motor vehicles 3-10 years 5

Intangibles 2-10 years 7

Capital work in progress not depreciated not depreciated
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(N) INTANGIBLE ASSETS

 (i) CoMPuTER SofTwARE

  Acquired computer software costs are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific 
software. These costs are amortised on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives (three to ten years).

  Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense except where 
the costs are directly associated with the development of identifiable and unique software products controlled by Airways, 
which are expected to generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year. These are then recognised as intangible 
assets. Direct costs include the costs of software development employees and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. 

  Internally generated software assets are amortised on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives (not exceeding 10 years).

 (ii) LICENCES

  Separately acquired licenses are capitalised at historical cost. Licences have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less 
accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives (two to four years).

(o) TRADE ACCouNTS PAyABLE

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to Airways prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid. The 
amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. These are measured at amortised cost.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

(P) BoRRowINGS AND BoRRowING CoSTS

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 
Any differences between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income over the period of the borrowing using the effective interest rate method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless Airways has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 
months after the balance date.

Borrowing costs are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they are incurred. 

(Q) PRoVISIoNS

Provisions are recognised when Airways has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is more likely than 
not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not 
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required to settle is determined by considering 
the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included 
in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation, using a pre-tax 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money, and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the 
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.
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(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

GRouP PARENT

foR THE yEAR ENDED 30 JuNE 2013 2012 2013 2012 NoTES

Consulting and product revenue 14,427 16,708 2,401 9

Amortisation of deferred income* 18,840 1,228 18,840 1,228 24

Management fee received - - 10,500 22,070 27

Other 6,024 5,143 5,974 6,270

39,291 23,079 37,715 29,577

* Airways’ cross border lease was terminated on 25 July 2012, resulting in the recognition of the remaining $18.8 million of deferred 
guarantee fee income in the current period. Refer to Note 24 for further information.

NoTE 3 SuMMARy of SIGNIfICANT ACCouNTING PoLICIES (CoNT.)

(R) EMPLoyEE ENTITLEMENTS

A liability for annual leave, long service leave and retiring leave is accrued and recognised in the balance sheet. The liability is equal to 
the present value of the estimated future outflows as a result of employee services provided at balance date. Where it is necessary, 
actuarial estimates of future demographic trends and employee remuneration are used to calculate these liabilities.

Airways operates various defined contribution schemes. The schemes are funded through payments to trustee administered funds. A 
defined contribution plan is a superannuation plan under which Airways pays fixed contributions into a separate entity (either Kiwisaver 
or otherwise). Airways has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to 
pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.

For defined contribution plans, Airways pays contributions to publicly or privately administered superannuation plans on a mandatory, 
contractual or voluntary basis. Airways has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are 
recognised as an employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a 
cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by Airways before the normal retirement date, or whenever an 
employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. Airways recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably 
committed to either: 

 (i) terminating the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal; or

 (ii) providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. 

Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the balance sheet date are discounted to their present value.

(S) SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary shares issued by Airways are classified as equity.

(T) DIVIDENDS

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared on or before balance date but not distributed at balance date.

(u) GooDS AND SERVICES TAX (GST)

The statement of comprehensive income and the cash flow statement have been prepared so that all components are stated net of 
GST. All items in the balance sheet are stated net of GST, with the exception of receivables and payables, which include GST invoiced.

NoTE 4 oTHER INCoME
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NoTE 5 EMPLoyEE REMuNERATIoN
(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

GRouP PARENT

foR THE yEAR ENDED 30 JuNE 2013 2012 2013 2012 NoTES

Wages and salaries, including Group and  
Parent termination benefits $0.843m (2012: $1.035m) 

78,517 76,744 78,517 76,744

Kiwisaver/superannuation contributions 7,696 7,551 7,696 7,551

Leave entitlements expense 10,260 12,690 10,260 12,690

96,473 96,985 96,473 96,985

NoTE 7 AuDIToRS’ REMuNERATIoN

GRouP PARENT

foR THE yEAR ENDED 30 JuNE 2013 2012 2013 2012 NoTES

PricewaterhouseCoopers for:

Financial statement audit services as an  
agent of the Office of the Auditor-General 

144 137 144 137

Financial statement audit services by PWC  
for Joint Venture

8 8 - -

Other assurance services 12 8 12 -

Cross border lease taxation advice 34 16 34 16

198 169 190 153 6

NoTE 6 oPERATING CoSTS 

GRouP PARENT

foR THE yEAR ENDED 30 JuNE 2013 2012 2013 2012 NoTES

Net surplus before taxation includes  
the following specific expenses:

Auditor remuneration 198 169 190 153 7

Bad debts written off and provisions 141 658 43 37

Directors’ fees (including expenses) 297 282 297 282

(Surplus)/deficit on disposal of assets (260) 1 (290) 12

Foreign exchange (gains)/losses (18) (57) (16) (64)

Inter-charges - - 11,928 27,715

Contract delivery costs 2,157 2,243 - -

Travel 4,588 4,574 2,153 1,793

Communications 2,400 2,397 2,301 39

Maintenance 5,645 3,574 4,092 479

Utilities 1,517 1,469 1,503 153

Professional fees 3,829 3,391 2,978 2,227

Insurance 2,016 1,901 2,016 1,867

Certain prior year comparatives in the note above have been re-classified to ensure consistency with current year disclosure.
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NoTE 8 INCoME TAX EXPENSE

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

GRouP PARENT

foR THE yEAR ENDED 30 JuNE 2013 2012 2013 2012 NoTES

(A)  RECONCILIATION OF SURPLUS BEFORE  
TAXATION TO INCOME TAX EXPENSE 

Surplus before taxation 30,185 12,949 26,413 7,140

Tax at the New Zealand tax rate  
of 28% (2012: 28%) 8,452 3,626 7,396 1,999 

Tax effect of amounts which are either  
non-deductible or taxable in calculating taxable 
income: 

Expenses not deductible for tax (72) 34 (66) 26

Over provision in prior periods (1) (6) (1) (4)

Other 45 (12) 347 (9)

INCoME TAX EXPENSE 8,424 3,642 7,676 2,012

GRouP PARENT

foR THE yEAR ENDED 30 JuNE 2013 2012 2013 2012 NoTES

(B) COMPONENTS OF INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Tax payable in respect of the current year 9,122 4,488 7,834 2,634 18

Tax payable/(receivable) in respect of  
previous years (142) (115) 57 (132) 18

Deferred tax in respect of current year (742) (837) (510) (617)

Deferred tax in respect of previous year 182 109 (58) 128 19

Other 4 (3) 353 (1)

INCoME TAX EXPENSE 8,424 3,642 7,676 2,012

(C)  AMOUNTS RECOGNISED IN  
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Aggregate deferred tax arising in the period 
recognised in other comprehensive income but 
directly debited or credited to equity 

423 (710) 423 (710) 19

The Group and Parent have no tax losses  
(2012: Nil) and no unrecognised temporary 
differences (2012: Nil) 

At 30 June 2013 Airways has imputation credits available for use in subsequent reporting periods of $11.717 million (2012: $3.701 million).
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(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

NoTE 9 CASH AND CASH EQuIVALENTS 

Cash and cash equivalents earned average interest of 2.50% (2012: 2.50%). Foreign currency deposits with a term of less than one 
year earned average interest at a rate of 1.49% (2012: 2.31%). 

CREDIT RISK 

Credit risk exists within financial transactions at both counterparty and sovereign level. The settlement of transactions requires the 
counterparty to be capable of meeting its financial obligations and the sovereign government allowing the transaction to occur. 
Sovereign risk is generally associated with the settlement of transactions with an offshore entity. 

Credit risk within Airways arises from cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and deposits with banks as well as 
credit exposures to customers from outstanding receivables. For banks, only parties with a minimum long term Standard and Poors 
rating of A+ or A1 or an equivalent credit rating from another internationally recognised ratings agency are accepted. 

NoTE 10 DERIVATIVE fINANCIAL INSTRuMENTS

GRouP PARENT

AS AT 30 JuNE 2013 2012 2013 2012

CuRRENT ASSETS 

Interest rate derivatives - - - -

Foreign currency exchange contracts 367 523 367 523

367 523 367 523

CuRRENT LIABILITIES 

Interest rate derivatives (155) (244) (155) (244)

Foreign currency exchange contracts (56) (211) (56) (211)

(211) (455) (211) (455)

NoN-CuRRENT ASSETS

Interest rate derivatives 317 23 317 23

Foreign currency exchange contracts - - - -

317 23 317 23

NoN-CuRRENT LIABILITIES 

Interest rate derivatives (1,480) (2,469) (1,480) (2,469)

Foreign currency exchange contracts (1) (11) (1) (11)

(1,481) (2,480) (1,481) (2,480)

ToTAL DERIVATIVE fINANCIAL INSTRuMENTS

Interest rate derivatives (1,318) (2,690) (1,318) (2,690)

Foreign currency exchange contracts 310 301 310 301

(1,008) (2,389) (1,008) (2,389)
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NoTE 11 TRADE AND oTHER RECEIVABLES
(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

GRouP PARENT

AS AT 30 JuNE 2013 2012 2013 2012

Trade accounts receivable 17,994 20,256 13,448 14,479

Other receivables 888 628 86 4,523

ToTAL 18,882 20,884 13,534 19,002

Amounts receivable from related parties are disclosed in note 27. 

CREDIT RISK 

Airways’ five largest customers account for 86.37% (2012: 84.33%) of total Airways charges revenue and accounts receivable at 
balance date. No collateral is held over receivables that are mainly due from airline companies. No unusual risk has been identified by 
Airways in relation to these companies, however overdue debts are continuously monitored at Group and individual customer levels to 
identify and address any potential specific credit risks. Where customers have a history of poor payment, payment terms are negotiated 
that require payment before delivery of goods or services.

As at 30 June 2013, Group trade receivables of $2.381 million (2012: $3.986 million) were overdue but not impaired. As at  
30 June 2013, Parent’s trade receivables of $0.947 million (2012: $1.653 million) were overdue but not impaired. Overdue balances 
are payments not received on the due date, which under usual terms are due within 20 days of the month following invoice date. 

The ageing analysis of trade receivables overdue but not impaired is as follows:

GRouP PARENT

AGING of TRADE RECEIVABLES oVERDuE BuT NoT IMPAIRED 
AS AT 30 JuNE 2013 2012 2013 2012

Overdue 1-30 days 986 2,802 711 1,520

Overdue 31-60 days 1,200 237 26 31

Overdue 61-90 days 33 12 16 8

Overdue 90 days + 162 935 194 94

ToTAL 2,381 3,986 947 1,653

At 30 June 2013, Group trade receivables of $1.623 million (2012: $1.375 million) and Parent $0.030 million (2012: $nil) were 
impaired. The amount of these provisions was $0.836 million (2012: $0.749 million) for the Group and $0.030 million (2012: $nil)  
for the parent. A portion of the impairment is a collective provision for doubtful receivables which is reviewed on an ongoing basis  
and calculated according to Airways accounting policy. In addition, there are individual fully impaired receivables. These relate to specific 
off-shore contracts where uncertainty of recoverability has arisen. Contractual details, the age of debt and customer discussions have 
been considered when finalising the 30 June 2013 position. The ageing analysis of impaired trade receivables is as follows:

32 | AIRWAYS ANNUAL REPORT 2012-13

Financial Statements



NoTES To THE fINANCIAL STATEMENTS NZ IfRS

NoTE 11 TRADE AND oTHER RECEIVABLES (CoNT.)
(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

GRouP PARENT

AGING of IMPAIRED TRADE RECEIVABLES AS AT 30 JuNE 2013 2012 2013 2012

Overdue 1-30 days - - - -

Overdue 31-60 days - - - -

Overdue 61-90 days - - - -

Overdue 90 days + 1,623 1,375 30 -

ToTAL 1,623 1,375 30 -

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets.

Movement in the doubtful debt provision during the year is as follows:

GRouP PARENT

2013 2012 2013 2012

Balance as at 1 July 749 152 - -

Receivables provided for 556 829 30 -

Receivables written off as uncollectible (26) (17) - -

Receivables previously provided  
for but subsequently collected

(443) (215) - -

BALANCE AS AT 30 JuNE 836 749 30 -
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NoTE 12 PRoPERTy, PLANT AND EQuIPMENT 

GRouP

LAND 
fREEHoLD

LAND
LEASEHoLD

BuILDINGS
fREEHoLD

BuILDINGS 
LEASEHoLD

PLANT & 
EQuIPMENT

CoMPuTERS 
& fuRNITuRE

MoToR 
VEHICLES

woRK IN
PRoGRESS ToTAL

CoST

As at 1 July 2011 6,339 12 16,386 11,637 177,009 40,968 1,657 9,527 263,535

Additions at cost - - 103 104 4,165 2,915 279 16,597 24,163

Deduct disposals - - - - (2,190) (6,537) (105) (7,148) (15,980)

AS AT 30 JuNE 2012 6,339 12 16,489 11,741 178,984 37,346 1,831 18,976 271,718

ACCuMuLATED 
DEPRECIATIoN

As at 1 July 2011 - - 7,778 10,871 108,195 29,649 1,312 - 157,805

Charge for period - - 413 108 8,831 3,934 205 - 13,491

Deduct disposals - - - - (2,179) (6,529) (104) - (8,812)

AS AT 30 JuNE 2012 - - 8,191 10,979 114,847 27,054 1,413 - 162,484

NET BooK VALuE 
AS AT 30 JuNE 2012 6,339 12 8,298 762 64,137 10,292 418 18,976 109,234

CoST

As at 1 July 2012 6,339 12 16,489 11,741 178,984 37,346 1,831 18,976 271,718

Additions at cost - - 57 170 6,840 6,387 691 23,333 37,478

Deduct disposals (7) - - - (1,358) (4,492) (267) (17,699) (23,823)

Deduct impairments - - - - (1,327) (41) - - (1,368)

AS AT 30 JuNE 2013 6,332 12 16,546 11,911 183,139 39,200 2,255 24,610 284,005

ACCuMuLATED 
DEPRECIATIoN

As at 1 July 2012 - - 8,342 10,828 114,847 27,054 1,413 - 162,484

Charge for period - - 443 113 8,991 3,982 252 - 13,781

Deduct disposals - - - - (1,306) (4,451) (265) - (6,022)

AS AT 30 JuNE 2013 - - 8,785 10,941 122,532 26,585 1,400 - 170,243

NET BooK VALuE 
AS AT 30 JuNE 2013 6,332 12 7,761 970 60,607 12,615 855 24,610 113,762

During the period, changes in technology indicated that certain IT network assets supporting Airways’ Air Traffic Management system 
were impaired. As a result, an impairment loss of $1.368 million was recognised to write the assets down to their recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount was considered to be the value-in-use and was determined using a Free Cash Flow to Enterprise 
methodology. Cashflows were calculated over the estimated remaining life of the assets and were discounted using a pre-tax 
discount rate of 8.83%.

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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NoTE 12 PRoPERTy, PLANT AND EQuIPMENT (CoNT.)

Additions and disposals include transfers between work in progress and asset classes and assets written off. There are no assets 
intended for sale in Property, Plant and Equipment. 

PARENT

LAND 
fREEHoLD

LAND
LEASEHoLD

BuILDINGS
fREEHoLD

BuILDINGS
fREEHoLD

PLANT & 
EQuIPMENT

CoMPuTERS 
& fuRNITuRE

MoToR 
VEHICLES

woRK IN
PRoGRESS ToTAL NoTES

CoST

As at 1 July 2011 6,339 12 16,013 11,614 170,914 32,632 236 7,397 245,157

Additions at cost - - 6 104 4,067 1,827 30 15,639 21,673

Deduct disposals - - - - (2,138) (5,616) (28) (6,447) (14,229)

AS AT 30 JuNE 2012 6,339 12 16,019 11,718 172,843 28,843 238 16,589 252,601

ACCuMuLATED 
DEPRECIATIoN

As at 1 July 2011 - - 7,811 10,710 104,319 23,721 209 - 146,770

Charge for period - - 373 107 8,457 2,996 16 - 11,949

Deduct disposals - - - - (2,127) (5,611) - - (7,738)

AS AT 30 JuNE 2012 - - 8,184 10,817 110,649 21,106 225 - 150,981

NET BooK VALuE 
AS AT 30 JuNE 2012 6,339 12 7,835 901 62,194 7,737 13 16,589 101,620

CoST

As at 1 July 2012 6,339 12 16,019 11,718 172,843 28,843 238 16,589 252,601

Transfer from subsidiary - - 358 23 5,351 1,464 1,496 1,836 10,528 27

Additions at cost - - 56 171 6,838 6,160 647 22,238 36,110

Deduct disposals (7) - - - (1,345) (3,623) (243) (17,357) (22,575)

Deduct impairment - - - - (1,327) (41) - - (1,368)

AS AT 30 JuNE 2013 6,332 12 16,433 11,912 182,360 32,803 2,138 23,306 275,296

ACCuMuLATED 
DEPRECIATIoN

As at 1 July 2012 - - 8,184 10,817 110,649 21,106 225 - 150,981

Transfer from subsidiary - - 109 12 3,685 1,253 1,151 - 6,210 27

Charge for period - - 379 113 8,926 3,135 235 - 12,788

Deduct disposals - - - - (1,295) (3,587) (239) - (5,121)

AS AT 30 JuNE 2013 - - 8,672 10,942 121,965 21,907 1,372 - 164,858

NET BooK VALuE 
AS AT 30 JuNE 2013 6,332 12 7,761 970 60,395 10,896 766 23,306 110,438

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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NoTE 13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

GRouP

INTERNALLy 
GENERATED SofTwARE

LICENCES &  
ACQuIRED SofTwARE ToTAL

CoST

As at 1 July 2011 4,659 3,223 7,882

Additions at cost 104 1,125 1,229

Deduct disposals - (500) (500)

Deduct impairments - - -

AS AT 30 JuNE 2012 4,763 3,848 8,611

ACCuMuLATED AMoRTISATIoN 

As at 1 July 2011 1,957 1,769 3,726

Charge for period 663 682 1,345

Deduct disposals - (500) (500)

AS AT 30 JuNE 2012 2,620 1,951 4,571

NET BooK VALuE AS AT 30 JuNE 2012 2,143 1,897 4,040

CoST

As at 1 July 2012 4,763 3,848 8,611

Additions at cost 3,268 284 3,552

Deduct disposals (109) (225) (334)

Deduct impairment - (166) (166)

AS AT 30 JuNE 2013 7,922 3,741 11,663

ACCuMuLATED AMoRTISATIoN 

As at 1 July 2012 2,620 1,951 4,571

Charge for period 905 790 1,695

Deduct disposals (77) (222) (299)

AS AT 30 JuNE 2013 3,448 2,519 5,967

NET BooK VALuE AS AT 30 JuNE 2013 4,474 1,222 5,696

Potential indicators of impairment for internally generated software have been considered at balance date, including potential product 
obsolescence and any significant under-performance against planned sales. No indicators were identified and as a result no impairment 
has been required (2012: nil).

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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NoTE 13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CoNT.)
(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

PARENT

INTERNALLy 
GENERATED SofTwARE

LICENCES &  
ACQuIRED SofTwARE ToTAL NoTES

CoST

As at 1 July 2011 1,530 2,232 3,762

Additions at cost 104 357 461

Deduct disposals - (500) (500)

AS AT 30 JuNE 2012 1,634 2,089 3,723

ACCuMuLATED AMoRTISATIoN

As at 1 July 2011 627 1,530 2,157

Charge for period 280 392 672

Deduct disposals - (500) (500)

AS AT 30 JuNE 2012 907 1,422 2,329

NET BooK VALuE AS AT 30 JuNE 2012 727 667 1,394

CoST

As at 1 July 2012 1,634 2,089 3,723

Transfer from subsidiary - 745 745 27

Additions at cost 3,268 213 3,481

Deduct disposals - (205) (205)

Deduct impairment - (166) (166)

AS AT 30 JuNE 2013 4,902 2,676 7,578

ACCuMuLATED AMoRTISATIoN

As at 1 July 2012 907 1,422 2,329

Transfer from subsidiary - 161 161 27

Charge for period 570 530 1,100

Deduct disposals - (202) (202)

AS AT 30 JuNE 2013 1,477 1,911 3,388

NET BooK VALuE AS AT 30 JuNE 2013 3,425 765 4,190
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NoTE 14 TRADE AND oTHER PAyABLES 

GRouP PARENT

AS AT 30 JuNE 2013 2012 2013 2012

Trade accounts payable 2,868 2,586 2,750 2,262

Interest payable 211 197 211 197

Payroll related payables 1,766 1,598 1,766 1,598

Other accrued liabilities 4,489 3,816 2,172 2,062

Miscellaneous payables 415 102 4,458 115

ToTAL 9,749 8,299 11,357 6,234

Amounts due to related parties are disclosed in note 27.

NoTE 15 LoNG TERM EMPLoyEE BENEfITS

GRouP PARENT

AS AT 30 JuNE 2013 2012 2013 2012

Balance Sheet obligations for:

Long service leave 1,406 1,389 1,406 1,389

Retiring leave 6,812 6,964 6,812 6,964

8,218 8,353 8,218 8,353

Statement of Comprehensive Income charge for:

Long service leave 133 148 133 148

Retiring leave (12) 921 (12) 921

121 1,069 121 1,069

(a) Long service leave

Airways grants employees long service leave entitlements based on remuneration and length of service. The specific entitlements are 
dependent on employment contracts. Where long service leave has vested, it is recognised as a current liability.

The principal actuarial assumptions used in determining Airways’ liability for long service leave entitlements are as follows:

GRouP PARENT

AS AT 30 JuNE 2013 2012 2013 2012

Discount rate 5.50% 6.00% 5.50% 6.00%

Inflation rate 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%

Future salary increases 3.00% 3.00% 3.00% 3.00%

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

38 | AIRWAYS ANNUAL REPORT 2012-13

Financial Statements



NoTES To THE fINANCIAL STATEMENTS NZ IfRS

NoTE 15 LoNG TERM EMPLoyEE BENEfITS (CoNT.)

NoTE 16 PRoVISIoNS

(b) Retiring leave

The principal actuarial assumptions used in determining Airways’ liability for retiring leave are as follows:

GRouP PARENT

AS AT 30 JuNE 2013 2012 2013 2012

Discount rate 5.50% 6.00% 5.50% 6.00%

Inflation rate 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%

Future salary increases 3.00% 3.00% 3.00% 3.00%

(c) Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity of the overall liability for employee entitlements to changes in principal assumptions is:

GRouP PARENT

AS AT 30 JuNE 2013 2012 2013 2012

Restructuring   

Opening balance  1,035 -  1,035 -

Additions  843 1,035  843 1,035

Unused amounts reversed during the period (210) - (210) -

Amounts used during the period (553) - (553) -

CLoSING BALANCE  1,115  1,035  1,115  1,035 

The restructuring provision relates to the termination of employment. It is expected the sums provided will be paid within 18 months.

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

INCREASE/(DECREASE) 
IN oVERALL LIABLIITy

AS AT 30 JuNE 2013 2012

Change in future salary increase to 2.00% (516) (497)

Change in future salary increase to 4.00% 451 553

Resignation rates are 50% of assumed (19) (13)

Resignation rates are 150% of assumed (47) 14

AIRWAYS ANNUAL REPORT 2012-13 | 39

Financial Statements



NoTES To THE fINANCIAL STATEMENTS NZ IfRS

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

NoTE 17 BoRRowINGS

Airways has two bank funding facilities. The first is a three year term loan and stand-by facility that allows Airways to borrow up to 
$55 million. This facility expires in January 2014 and is classified as a Current Liability (2012: Classified as a Non-Current Liability). 
In addition, the facility includes a committed money market loan of $5 million which expires in November 2013. This facility may be 
extended to January 2014 at the bank’s discretion.

At present Airways has drawn $30 million (2012: $27 million) of this funding line. The average effective interest rate of the facility 
was 5.75% (2012: 5.98%) for the year. The second is a short term uncommitted facility of up to $5 million that has not been drawn 
down (2012: $nil). Arrangements for refinancing Airways’ funding facilities are well advanced.

LIQuIDITy RISK

Liquidity risk is the risk that Airways will be unable to meet its short term and/or long term cash requirements in an orderly manner 
as they arise. Liquidity risk arises within Airways where there is a mismatch between the maturity profile of financial assets and 
liabilities in the short and medium term and credit facilities are not available to roll over or to cover temporary cash shortfalls. 
Liquidity risk also arises from reliance on a small number of customers to provide the majority of ongoing cash inflow for the Group. 

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding through an adequate amount  
of committed credit facilities. 

Short and medium term liquidity management involves the preparation, monitoring and re-forecasting of cash flows, efficient 
management of bank accounts and money market activity, and the guaranteed availability of unutilised credit facilities. Long  
term liquidity risk is managed through Airways’ long term capital adequacy planning process. Management monitors rolling  
10-year forecasts ensuring our committed credit lines have the provision to accommodate 10% surplus funding over and above  
our projected maximum level of debt, as defined in the first three to five years of the 10-year capital adequacy forecast. 

NoTE 18 CuRRENT TAX (PAyABLE)/RECEIVABLE

GRouP PARENT

2013 2012 2013 2012 NoTES

MoVEMENTS 

BALANCE AS AT 1 JULY (1,810) (662) (12) (215)

Tax (payable)/receivable in respect of the current year (9,122) (4,488) (7,834) (2,634) 8

Tax receivable in respect of the previous years 142 115 (57) 132 8

Tax paid during the year 6,881 3,225 6,606 3,168

Tax losses (to)/from entities within the Group - - (1,599) (463)

BALANCE AS AT 30 JuNE (3,909) (1,810) (2,896) (12)
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NoTE 19 DEfERRED TAXATIoN 

GRouP

DEPRECIATIoN PRoVISIoNS oTHER ToTAL

BALANCE AS AT 30 JuNE 2011 (14,828) 5,685 (171) (9,314)

Deferred tax in respect of previous years - (109) - (109)

Deferred tax charged to net surplus 178 1,366 (707) 837

Deferred tax on items charged to other comprehensive income - - 710 710

BALANCE AS AT 30 JuNE 2012 (14,650) 6,942 (168) (7,876)

Deferred tax in respect of previous years 64 (246) - (182)

Deferred tax charged to net surplus 756 (402) 388 742

Deferred tax on items charged to other comprehensive income - - (423) (423)

Other - - 17 17

BALANCE AS AT 30 JuNE 2013 (13,830) 6,294 (186) (7,722)

The amount of the deferred tax balance expected to be utilised within one year is $1.359 million (2012: $0.954 million). 

PARENT

DEPRECIATIoN PRoVISIoNS oTHER ToTAL

BALANCE AS AT 30 JuNE 2011 (13,507) 5,450 79 (7,978)

Deferred tax in respect of previous years - (128) - (128)

Deferred tax charged to net surplus 119 1,195 (697) 617

Deferred tax on items charged to other comprehensive income - - 710 710

BALANCE AS AT 30 JuNE 2012 (13,388) 6,517 92 (6,779)

Deferred tax in respect of previous years 64 (5) - 59

Deferred tax charged to net surplus 252 (481) 739 510

Deferred tax on items charged to other comprehensive income - - (423) (423)

Other - - (353) (353)

BALANCE AS AT 30 JuNE 2013 (13,072) 6,031 55 (6,986)

The amount of the deferred tax balance expected to be utilised within one year is $1.201 million (2012: $0.624 million). 

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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NoTE 20 fINANCIAL INSTRuMENTS By CATEGoRy 

AS AT 30 JuNE 
LoANS & 

RECEIVABLES
DERIVATIVES uSED 

foR HEDGING
LIABILITIES AT 

AMoRTISED CoST ToTAL

GRouP 2012

ASSETS AS PER BALANCE SHEET 

Cash and cash equivalents 5,792 - - 5,792

Trade and other receivables 20,884 - - 20,884

Derivative financial instruments - 546 - 546

ToTAL 26,676 546 - 27,222

LIABILITIES AS PER BALANCE SHEET

Borrowings - - 27,000 27,000

Trade and other payables - - 5,355 5,355

Employee entitlements - - 28,394 28,394

Provisions - - 1,035 1,035

Derivative financial instruments - 2,935 - 2,935

ToTAL - 2,935 61,784 64,719

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

AS AT 30 JuNE 
LoANS &

RECEIVABLES
DERIVATIVES uSED 

foR HEDGING
LIABILITIES AT

AMoRTISED CoST ToTAL

GRouP 2013

ASSETS AS PER BALANCE SHEET 

Cash and cash equivalents 6,826 - - 6,826

Trade and other receivables 18,886 - - 18,886

Derivative financial instruments - 684 - 684

ToTAL 25,712 684 - 26,396

LIABILITIES AS PER BALANCE SHEET

Borrowings - - 30,000 30,000

Trade and other payables - - 6,567 6,567

Employee entitlements - - 26,670 26,670

Provisions - - 1,115 1,115

Derivative financial instruments - 1,692 - 1,692

ToTAL - 1,692 64,352 66,044
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NoTE 20 fINANCIAL INSTRuMENTS By CATEGoRy (CoNT.)

AS AT 30 JuNE 
LoANS & 

RECEIVABLES
DERIVATIVES uSED 

foR HEDGING
LIABILITIES AT 

AMoRTISED CoST ToTAL

PARENT 2012

ASSETS AS PER BALANCE SHEET 

Cash and cash equivalents 5,792 - - 5,792

Trade and other receivables 19,002 - - 19,002

Derivative financial instruments - 546 - 546

ToTAL 24,794 546 - 25,340

LIABILITIES AS PER BALANCE SHEET

Borrowings - - 27,000 27,000

Trade and other payables - - 3,604 3,604

Employee entitlements - - 28,394 28,394

Provisions - - 1,035 1,035

Derivative financial instruments - 2,935 - 2,935

ToTAL - 2,935 60,033 62,968

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

AS AT 30 JuNE 
LoANS &

RECEIVABLES
DERIVATIVES uSED 

foR HEDGING
LIABILITIES AT

AMoRTISED CoST ToTAL

PARENT 2013

ASSETS AS PER BALANCE SHEET 

Cash and cash equivalents 6,826 - - 6,826

Trade and other receivables 13,539 - - 13,539

Derivative financial instruments - 684 - 684

ToTAL 20,365 684 - 21,049

LIABILITIES AS PER BALANCE SHEET

Borrowings - - 30,000 30,000

Trade and other payables - - 8,569 8,569

Employee entitlements - - 26,670 26,670

Provisions - - 1,115 1,115

Derivative financial instruments - 1,692 - 1,692

ToTAL - 1,692 66,354 68,046

AIRWAYS ANNUAL REPORT 2012-13 | 43

Financial Statements



NoTES To THE fINANCIAL STATEMENTS NZ IfRS

NoTE 21 fINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

Risk Management is undertaken by management who manage certain market (including foreign currency and interest rate), credit and 
liquidity risks under a Treasury Policy that is approved by the Board of Directors. 

 (i) Capital Management

  Airways’ objective when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide 
returns for shareholders, benefits for other stakeholders, and to maintain an appropriate capital structure. In order to 
maintain or adjust the capital structure, Airways may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital  
to shareholders, increase or reduce debt, sell assets, or reduce capital expenditure. The borrowing note (note 17) within 
this report includes further information. 

 (ii) Currency Risk 

  Foreign exchange risk is the risk that Airways may suffer financial loss due to a movement of foreign exchange rates relative 
to its domestic currency. Airways is exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of revenue contracts, capital expenditure and 
operational expenditure denominated in foreign currencies. The currencies in which Airways primarily transacts are US Dollar, 
Euro, Pounds Sterling, Australian Dollar and the Japanese Yen. 

  The Treasury Policy requires that foreign currency exposures greater than NZ$20,000 are hedged. Foreign exchange 
instruments approved under the policy are forward exchange contracts and currency options. The Treasury Policy also allows 
small foreign currency bank balances to be held to hedge foreign currency transactions of less than NZ$20,000. 

  Under the Treasury Policy set out above, substantially all of Airways’ exposure to currency risk is hedged using Forward 
Exchange Contracts (FECs). As at 30 June 2013, Airways has entered into FECs to sell the equivalent of NZ$2.582 million 
(2012: NZ$5.485 million) and to buy the equivalent of NZ$2.782 million (2012: NZ$3.399 million). The tables below 
set out the notional $NZ value and notional Foreign Currency (FX) for all FECs which is Airways’ underlying exposure to 
currency risk.

fEC BuyS 
hedging foreign currency  

liability/commitment exposure

fEC SELLS 
hedging foreign currency  
asset/receipt exposure

AS AT 30 JuNE 2012 Notional Value  
(fX’ 000)

Notional Value 
(NZD’ 000)

Notional Value  
(fX’ 000)

Notional Value 
(NZD’ 000)

foREIGN CuRRENCy 

AUD 60 76 128 164

EUR 629 1,085 32 53

GBP 31 61 - -

JPY - - 18,980 316

USD 1,629 2,177 3,550 4,952

ToTAL 3,399 5,485

fEC BuyS 
hedging foreign currency  

liability/commitment exposure

fEC SELLS 
hedging foreign currency  
asset/receipt exposure

AS AT 30 JuNE 2013 Notional Value  
(fX’ 000)

Notional Value 
(NZD’ 000)

Notional Value  
(fX’ 000)

Notional Value 
(NZD’ 000)

foREIGN CuRRENCy 

AUD 184 231 - -

EUR 221 367 98 161

GBP 56 105 - -

JPY - - 13,325 227

USD 1,729 2,079 1,598 2,194

ToTAL 2,782 2,582
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NoTE 21 fINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CoNT.)

  These contracts are hedging committed or highly probable forecast contracted revenue streams, capital expenditure and 
operational expenditure. The contracts are timed to mature when the transaction is scheduled to be settled. Where forward 
contracts have been designated and tested as an effective hedge, the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument 
that is determined to be an effective hedge is recognised directly in equity. When the contracts are settled, these gains or 
losses are recorded against the underlying revenue stream, capital expenditure item, or operational expenditure. 

  Where forward contracts are not designated and therefore not tested as an effective hedge, the gain or loss on the forward 
contract is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as a foreign exchange gain or loss. At balance date, there 
were no contracts that had not been designated as effective hedges (2012: Nil). The maturity table in note 21 (iv) provides 
further detail on the maturity profile of foreign currency hedge contracts. 

 (iii) Interest Rate Risk 

  Airways’ interest rate risk arises from short and long term borrowings typically incurred to finance major capital projects. 
Borrowings are at variable rates, exposing Airways to interest rate risk. The objective of Airways’ interest rate risk management 
policy is to ensure that Airways profitability is not exposed to material fluctuations in interest rates. Airways monitors interest 
rates on an on-going basis and uses swaps and caps, forward rate agreements and interest rate options to reduce Airways’ 
exposure to adverse movements in interest rates. The Treasury Policy requires Airways to hedge its interest rate risk applying 
the principles of mean reversion (a concept that suggests that interest rates will tend back to the mean or average over time), 
within the following control limits: 

INTEREST RATES HEDGE LIMITS MAXIMuM TERM

> 9.90% Up to 90% of Forecast Debt using interest rate caps/options 3 years

Between 7.0 and 9.9% Up to 25% of Forecast Debt using interest rate swaps and up to 65% using interest rate caps/options 5 years 

Between 6.0 and 7.0%
Between 25% and 50% of Forecast Debt using interest rate swaps, and up to 25% using interest  
rate caps/options 

7 years 

< 6.0% Up to 90% of Forecast Debt using interest rate swaps 10 years

 The following maximum hedge limits apply to the coverage levels above:

 1-3 years: 90% of forecast debt

 4-5 years: The greater of 75% of forecast debt and core debt

 6-10 years: core debt

  As at 30 June 2013, Airways had interest rate swaps with a notional value of $25 million hedging existing debt (2012: $27 
million). Further interest rate swaps were also in place to hedge forecast future debt. The fixed rates Airways pays under these 
swaps range between 2% to 6% (2012: 4% to 6%).

 (iv) Liquidity Risk 

  Refer to note 17 for discussion of the extent and nature of liquidity risk in Airways and the relevant risk management 
framework in place. Further analysis of liquidity risk is provided in the maturity table below. 

 Maturity Table 

  The table over page analyses Airways’ financial assets and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining 
period at the balance date to the maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. 
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NoTE 21 fINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CoNT.)

AS AT 30 JuNE

LESS THAN 
6 MTHS

BETwEEN 
6 MTHS & 

1 yEAR

BETwEEN 
1 & 2 

yEARS 

BETwEEN 
2 & 5 

yEARS

GREATER 
THAN 5 
yEARS

No STATED 
MATuRITy

GRouP 2012

Cash and cash equivalents 5,792 - - - - -

Trade and other receivables 20,884 - - - - -

Interest rate derivatives – inflow - - - - 15 -

Interest rate derivatives – outflow (400) (363) (556) (1,132) (471) -

Foreign currency exchange contracts – inflow* 2,837 230 332 - - -

Foreign currency exchange contracts – outflow* (5,263) (221) - - - -

Trade and other payables (5,355) - - - - -

Employee entitlements - - - - - (28,394)

Provisions (1,035) - - - - -

Term loan 436 436 873 27,561 - -

Financial guarantee contracts (14) - - - - -

ToTAL 17,882 82 649 26,429 (456) (28,394)

AS AT 30 JuNE

LESS THAN 
6 MTHS

BETwEEN 
6 MTHS & 

1 yEAR

BETwEEN 
1 & 2 

yEARS 

BETwEEN 
2 & 5 

yEARS

GREATER 
THAN 5 
yEARS

No STATED 
MATuRITy

GRouP 2013 

Cash and cash equivalents 6,826 - - - - -

Trade and other receivables 18,886 - - - - -

Interest rate derivatives – inflow - - - - 265 -

Interest rate derivatives – outflow (295) (268) (330) (559) (44) -

Foreign currency exchange contracts – inflow* 5,009 531 133 - - -

Foreign currency exchange contracts – outflow* (4,677) (548) (138) - - -

Trade and other payables (6,567) - - - - -

Employee entitlements - - - - - (26,670)

Provisions (1,115) - - - - -

Term loan (479) (30,080) - - - -

Financial guarantee contracts (1) - (13) - - -

ToTAL 17,587 (30,365) (348) (559) 221 (26,670)

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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NoTE 21 fINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CoNT.)

AS AT 30 JuNE LESS THAN 
6 MTHS

BETwEEN 
6 MTHS & 

1 yEAR

BETwEEN 
1 & 2 

yEARS 

BETwEEN 
2 & 5 

yEARS

GREATER 
THAN 5 
yEARS

No STATED 
MATuRITy

PARENT 2012 

Cash and cash equivalents 5,792 - - - - -

Trade and other receivables 19,002 - - - - -

Interest rate derivatives – inflow - - - - 15 -

Interest rate derivatives – outflow (400) (363) (556) (1,132) (471) -

Foreign currency exchange contracts – inflow* 2,837 230 332 - - -

Foreign currency exchange contracts – outflow* (5,263) (221) - - - -

Trade and other payables (3,604) - - - - -

Employee entitlements - - - - - (28,394)

Provisions (1,035) - - - - -

Term loan 436 436 873 27,561 - -

Financial guarantee contracts (14) - - - - -

ToTAL 17,751 82 649 26,429 (456) (28,394)

AS AT 30 JuNE LESS THAN 
6 MTHS

BETwEEN 
6 MTHS & 

1 yEAR

BETwEEN 
1 & 2 

yEARS 

BETwEEN 
2 & 5 

yEARS

GREATER 
THAN 5 
yEARS

No STATED 
MATuRITy

PARENT 2013

Cash and cash equivalents 6,826 - - - - -

Trade and other receivables 13,539 - - - - -

Interest rate derivatives – inflow - - - - 265 -

Interest rate derivatives – outflow (295) (268) (330) (559) (44) -

Foreign currency exchange contracts – inflow* 5,009 531 133 - - -

Foreign currency exchange contracts – outflow* (4,677) (548) (138) - - -

Trade and other payables (8,569) - - - - -

Employee entitlements - - - - - (26,670)

Provisions (1,115) - - - - -

Term loan (479) (30,080) - - - -

Financial guarantee contracts (1) - (13) - - -

ToTAL 10,238 (30,365) (348) (559) 221 (26,670)

* The flows represent the contractual obligations in New Zealand Dollars of the foreign exchange contracts. 

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

NoTE 21 fINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CoNT.)

 (v) Credit Risk 

  Refer to notes 9 and 11 for discussion of the extent and nature of credit risk in Airways and the relevant risk management 
framework in place. 

SENSITIVITy ANALySIS 

The table below illustrates what the impact on the profit after tax and total equity would have been if the market risk factors had moved 
by the percentage indicated, assuming all other factors had stayed the same. The reasonably possible movements in market risk factors 
have been identified as 100 basis point interest rates movement and 10% movement of the New Zealand Dollar against all other 
currencies. These factors were identified given historical market risk movements experienced by Airways.

DowN – 100 BASIS PoINTS uP + 100 BASIS PoINTS

INTEREST RATES CARRyING AMouNT PRofIT EQuITy PRofIT EQuITy

GRouP 2012

Cash and cash equivalents 5,792 (58) (58) 58 58

Term loan – hedged 27,000 - - - -

Interest rate derivatives (2,690) - (1,774) - 1,627

GRouP 2013

Cash and cash equivalents 6,826 (68) (68) 68 68

Term loan – hedged 25,000 - - - -

Term loan – un-hedged 5,000 50 50 (50) (50)

Interest rate derivatives (1,318) - (1,679) - 1,553

DowN – 100 BASIS PoINTS uP + 100 BASIS PoINTS

INTEREST RATES CARRyING AMouNT PRofIT EQuITy PRofIT EQuITy

PARENT 2012

Cash and cash equivalents 5,792 (58) (58) 58 58

Term loan – hedged 27,000 - - - -

Interest rate derivatives (2,690) - (1,774) - 1,627

PARENT 2013

Cash and cash equivalents 6,826 (68) (68) 68 68

Term loan – hedged 25,000 - - - -

Term loan – un-hedged 5,000 50 50 (50) (50)

Interest rate derivatives (1,318) - (1,679) - 1,553
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NoTE 21 fINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CoNT.)

DowN – 10% uP + 10%

foREIGN EXCHANGE CARRyING AMouNT PRofIT EQuITy PRofIT EQuITy

GRouP 2012 

Cash and cash equivalents 1,260 126 126 (126) (126)

Foreign exchange contracts (Net) 301 - 150 - (210)

Accounts receivable (FX Contracts) 3,703 370 370 (370) (370)

GRouP 2013

Cash and cash equivalents 435 (44) (44) 44 44

Foreign exchange contracts (Net) 310 - (53)  - 53

Accounts receivable (FX Contracts) 1,335 134 134 (134) (134)

DowN – 10% uP + 10%

foREIGN EXCHANGE CARRyING AMouNT PRofIT EQuITy PRofIT EQuITy

PARENT 2012 

Cash and cash equivalents 1,260 126 126 (126) (126)

Foreign exchange contracts (Net) 301 - 150 - (210)

Accounts receivable (FX Contracts) 3,703 370 370 (370) (370)

PARENT 2013 

Cash and cash equivalents 435 (44) (44) 44 44

Foreign exchange contracts (Net) 310 - (53)  - 53

Accounts receivable (FX Contracts) 1,335 134 134 (134) (134)

fAIR VALuE HIERARCHy 

For those instruments recognised at fair value on the balance sheet, fair values are determined according to the following hierarchy: 

Level 1

Quoted market price – Financial instruments with quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets.

Level 2

Valuation technique using observable inputs – Financial instruments with quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets or 
quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in inactive markets and financial instruments valued using models where all significant 
inputs are observable.

Level 3

Valuation techniques with significant non-observable inputs – Financial instruments valued using models where one or more significant 
inputs are not observable.

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

NoTE 21 fINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CoNT.)

The following table analyses the basis of the valuation of classes of financial instruments measured at fair value on the balance sheet:

VALuATIoN TECHNIQuE

LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3

AS AT 30 JuNE QuoTED MARKET 
PRICE

oBSERVABLE 
INPuTS

SIGNIfICANT 
NoN-oBSERVABLE 

INPuTS
ToTAL

GRouP 2012 

ASSETS 

Interest rate derivatives - 23 - 23

Foreign currency exchange contracts - 523 - 523

ToTAL ASSETS - 546 - 546

LIABILITIES 

Interest rate derivatives - (2,713) - (2,713)

Foreign currency exchange contracts - (222) - (222)

ToTAL LIABILITIES - (2,935) - (2,935)

GRouP 2013 

ASSETS 

Interest rate derivatives - 317 - 317

Foreign currency exchange contracts - 367 - 367

ToTAL ASSETS - 684 - 684

LIABILITIES 

Interest rate derivatives - (1,635) - (1,635)

Foreign currency exchange contracts - (57) - (57)

ToTAL LIABILITIES - (1,692) - (1,692)
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NoTE 21 fINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CoNT.)

VALuATIoN TECHNIQuE

LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3

AS AT 30 JuNE QuoTED MARKET 
PRICE

oBSERVABLE 
INPuTS

SIGNIfICANT 
NoN-oBSERVABLE 

INPuTS
ToTAL

PARENT 2012

ASSETS 

Interest rate derivatives - 23 - 23

Foreign currency exchange contracts - 523 - 523

ToTAL ASSETS - 546 - 546

LIABILITIES 

Interest rate derivatives - (2,713) - (2,713)

Foreign currency exchange contracts - (222) - (222)

ToTAL LIABILITIES - (2,935) - (2,935)

PARENT 2013

ASSETS 

Interest rate derivatives - 317 - 317

Foreign currency exchange contracts - 367 - 367

ToTAL ASSETS - 684 - 684

LIABILITIES 

Interest rate derivatives - (1,635) - (1,635)

Foreign currency exchange contracts - (57) - (57)

ToTAL LIABILITIES - (1,692) - (1,692)

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values for each class of financial instruments: 

 (i) The carrying values of cash, current receivables, current payables and unsecured loans are equivalent to their fair values.

 (ii) Derivatives Fair Values

  1. Forward Exchange Contracts values are determined using observable forward exchange market rates at the balance date.

  2.  Interest Rate Swaps and Interest Rate Caps are valued using the “Projected” methodology as follows. For floating 
rates this method projects all future floating cash flows and discounts this back to the revaluation date. For fixed rates, 
the individual cash flows are discounted from the cash flow date to the revaluation date. The discount rate used to 
calculate the NPV of the deal is the zero coupon curve, based on a blended swaps curve obtained from Reuters.

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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NoTE 22 CAPITAL CoMMITMENTS

The table below illustrates the total contracted capital commitments for Airways and Parent at balance date. 

Airways will fund this programme through operating cash flow and increase debt (whilst remaining within current loan facilities and covenants). 

NoTE 23 oPERATING LEASE CoMMITMENTS

Lease commitments under non-cancellable operating leases: 

GRouP PARENT

AS AT 30 JuNE 2013 2012 2013 2012

Property, plant & equipment capital commitments 16,543 15,608 16,461 13,567

Intangible asset capital commitments 4,481 542 4,367 202

ToTAL CAPITAL CoMMITMENTS 21,024 16,150 20,828 13,769

GRouP PARENT

AS AT 30 JuNE 2013 2012 2013 2012

Less than one year 4,335 3,896 4,250 3,896

One to two years 3,868 3,473 3,793 3,473

Two to five years 7,942 7,849 7,679 7,849

Over five years 3,193 2,052 2,616 2,052

ToTAL oPERATING LEASE oBLIGATIoNS 19,338 17,270 18,338 17,270

These lease commitments relate to both unsigned leases under negotiation, and signed leases. Management has estimated future lease 
commitments for unsigned leases, based on the most recent lease negotiations. Airways leases various land, buildings, IT hardware 
and equipment under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. Lease terms are between two and twenty one years and most 
agreements are renewable at the end of the lease period. 

NoTE 24 oTHER LEASES 

During 2003 and 2004 Airways entered into a cross border lease of certain equipment associated with the Skyline Air Traffic 
Management System and Surveillance Systems. The arrangement did not impose any restrictions on these assets which would affect 
the ability to use them in day-to-day operations. The lease arrangement was for 24 years and was to expire in 2027 however it was 
terminated on 25 July 2012 via the early buy out options available in the original lease agreements. 

On initiation, a guarantee fee was received that was to be recognised over the period of the lease. On termination, the remaining 
deferred guarantee fee revenue of $18.840 million was recognised in the statement of comprehensive income (2012: $1.228 million), 
as mentioned in Note 2. As a result of the early termination, Airways also incurred expenses and recognised a gain on the settlement 
of equity collateral associated with the lease. The overall impact on Airways’ result for the current year arising from the early termination 
has been an increase to NOPAT of $12.8 million.
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(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

NoTE 25 CoNTINGENT LIABILITIES 

Airways has contingent liabilities in respect of bid bond financial guarantee contracts of $1.4 million (2012: $2.8 million).

NoTE 26 GRouP ENTITIES AND owNERSHIP 

Airways is a State-Owned Enterprise, wholly owned by the New Zealand Government. Its shareholders are the Minister of Finance 
and the Minister for State-Owned Enterprises. Airways International Limited and Airways Training Limited are wholly owned by Airways 
Corporation of New Zealand Limited.

CouNTRy of 
INCoRPoRATIoN

PERCENTAGE 
SHAREHoLDING PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

Airways International Limited New Zealand 100%
Air navigation services, maintenance  
of systems, consultancy and training

Airways Training Limited New Zealand 100% Holding company 

Aviation English Services New Zealand 50% Aviation English Training Joint Venture 

During the period, ACNZ terminated its involvement in a cross border lease, as set out in Note 24. Following this termination, Airways 
Equipment Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of ACNZ and a party to the cross border lease, was amalgamated with its parent. This 
amalgamation has resulted in the following changes in the balance sheet of ACNZ:

Investments in subsidiaries (100)

Current tax liabilities (4)

Intercompany liabilities 186

Total increase in net assets 82

Increase in retained earnings 82
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NoTE 27 RELATED PARTIES

On 1 July 2012, following the completion of a Group transformation project, operational responsibility for the development and 
maintenance of Domestic ATM Systems and assets was realigned from Airways International Limited to ACNZ. As a result of this 
realignment, the assets and liabilities associated with this business unit were transferred to ACNZ at their net book value, as set out 
in the table below. In consideration for the total net assets of $4.85 million transferred to ACNZ, the intercompany balance due from 
Airways International Limited to the parent was reduced by an equal and offsetting amount. This transfer had no impact at a Group level.

NET BooK VALuE

Fixed assets 4,319

Intangible assets 584

Accrued liabilities (53)

Net assets transferred to ACNZ 4,850

The Parent assumes responsibility for settlement of the tax liability of Airways International Limited of $1.076 million (2012: $1.627 million). 

A management fee was charged to Airways International Limited by the Parent of $10.500 million (2012: $22.070 million).

Airways International Limited charged the Parent a management fee of $9.422 million (2012: $3.579 million).

Prior to the amalgamation described in Note 26, the Parent assumed responsibility for the settlement of the tax liability of (2012: 
$0.004 million); was charged a rental fee by (2012: $1.213 million); and received a management fee from (2012: $1.200 million); 
Airways Equipment Limited. No such transactions took place in the current year.

GRouP PARENT

foR THE yEAR ENDED 30 JuNE 2013 2012 2013 2012

KEy MANAGEMENT CoMPENSATIoN

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits* 1,592 1,850 1,592 1,850

Termination benefits - - - -

Kiwisaver/superannuation contributions 35 88 35 88

1,627 1,938 1,627 1,938

DIRECToRS’ fEES

Directors’ fees paid 249 242 249 242

Key management are considered to be the Chief Executive Officer, his direct reports and the Board of Directors.

*No salaries or other short-term employee benefits were paid to directors.

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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NoTE 28 JoINT VENTuRE AND oTHER INVESTMENTS

JoINT VENTuRE 

Airways has a 50% participating interest in an Aviation English Training Joint Venture. Under the joint venture, profits and losses are 
shared equally. The joint venture runs its operation under the name Aviation English Services. 

NoTE 27 RELATED PARTIES (CoNT.)

GRouP PARENT

AS AT 30 JuNE 2013 2012 2013 2012

INTERCoMPANy BALANCES 

Aviation English Services – Joint Venture 318 285 26 5

Airways International Limited - - (4,026) 4,650

Airways Equipment Limited - - - (186)

Airways Training Limited - - 32 11

SHAREHoLDERS

Dividends paid 2,000 5,000 2,000 5,000

A provision for doubtful debts of $0.009 million was reversed during the year on related party balances due to the Parent  
(2012: $0.004 million provided for). 

GRouP PARENT

foR THE yEAR ENDED 30 JuNE 2013 2012 2013 2012

INCoME STATEMENT 

The Group’s 50% share of operating revenues and expenses for the year, 
equity accounted, was:

Revenue 101 57 - -

Expenses (92) (61) - -

Airways’ carrying value of the investment in the Joint Venture at balance date was $nil (2012: $nil). Airways’ share of the operating 
revenues and expenses has been recognised as a reversal of previous impairments in receivables due from the Joint Venture of  
$0.009 million (2012: impairment of $0.004 million).

At balance date, the joint venture had no contingencies or capital commitments (2012: nil). Under the joint venture, Airways is jointly 
and severally liable for the obligations of the joint venture. Airways’ maximum potential exposure in this regard is 100% of the joint 
venture’s obligations. No provision has been recognised in respect of these obligations as management consider that it is possible  
but not probable that such an outflow is required at balance date.

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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NoTE 28 JoINT VENTuRE AND oTHER INVESTMENTS (CoNT.)

GRouP PARENT

AS AT 30 JuNE 2013 2012 2013 2012

BALANCE SHEET 

The Group’s 50% share of the balance sheet, was:

CuRRENT ASSETS 

Trade & other receivables 32 11 - -

Bank 12 16 - -

44 27 - -

SHARE of ToTAL ASSETS 44 27 - -

CuRRENT LIABILITIES 

Bank overdraft (113) (128) - -

Accrued liabilities (86) (61) - -

Loan – Airways (105) (105) - -

(304) (294) - -

NET ASSETS EMPLoyED IN THE JoINT VENTuRE (260) (267) - -

INTERESTS IN JoINT VENTuRE

Balance as at 1 July - - - -

Share of recognised revenues and expenses - - - -

BALANCE AS AT 30 JuNE - - - -

oTHER INVESTMENTS 

Investment subsidiaries - - - 100

Other investments - - - -

BALANCE AS AT 30 JuNE - - - 100

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)
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NoTE 29 SuBSEQuENT EVENTS 

There have been no significant events occurring since balance date requiring disclosure.

NoTE 30 RECoNCILIATIoN of THE NET CASH fLow fRoM oPERATING ACTIVITIES To REPoRTED SuRPLuS

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ thousands unless otherwise stated)

GRouP PARENT

foR THE yEAR ENDED 30 JuNE 2013 2012 2013 2012 NoTES

NET SURPLUS AFTER TAXATION 21,761 9,307 18,737 5,128

ADD NON CASH ITEMS 

Accounting (surplus)/loss on sale of fixed assets (260) 1 (290) 12 6

Amortisation & impairment 1,860 1,345 1,265 672 13

Depreciation & impairment 15,149 13,491 14,156 11,949 12

Impairment from Investment - -  (9) -

Share of loss/(profit) from joint venture  (9) - - - 28

ToTAL ADJuSTMENTS foR ITEMS IN SuRPLuS  
NoT IMPACTING CASH fLow 16,740 14,837 15,122 12,633

ADD MOVEMENTS IN WORKING CAPITAL ITEMS

Increase/(decrease) in payables (17,170) 5,344 (16,699) 8,613

Decrease/(increase) in receivables 1,957 (5,611) 5,603 (5,065)

ToTAL ADJuSTMENTS foR ITEMS NoT  
IN SuRPLuS IMPACTING CASH fLow (15,213) (267) (11,096) 3,548

NET CASH INfLow fRoM oPERATING ACTIVITIES 23,288 23,877 22,763 21,309
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To THE READERS of AIRwAyS CoRPoRATIoN of NEw ZEALAND LIMITED AND GRouP’S fINANCIAL STATEMENTS foR 
THE yEAR END 30 JuNE 2013

The Auditor-General is the auditor of Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited (the Company) and Group. The Auditor-General  
has appointed me, Lesley Mackle, using the staff and resources of PricewaterhouseCoopers, to carry out the audit of the financial 
statements of the Company and Group, on her behalf. 

We have audited the financial statements of the Company and Group on pages 12 to 57, that comprise the balance sheets as at  
30 June 2013, the statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the year 
ended on that date and the notes to the financial statements that include accounting policies and other explanatory information.

oPINIoN oN THE fINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

In our opinion the financial statements of the Company and Group on pages12 to 57:

• comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand;

• comply with International Financial Reporting Standards; and

• give a true and fair view of the Company and Group’s:

 - financial positions as at 30 June 2013; and

 - financial performances and cash flows for the year ended on that date.

oPINIoN oN oTHER LEGAL REQuIREMENTS

In accordance with the Financial Reporting Act 1993 we report that, in our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept by the 
Company as far as appears from an examination of those records.

Our audit was completed on 28 August 2013. This is the date at which our opinion is expressed.

The basis of our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Board of Directors and our responsibilities, 
and explain our independence.

BASIS of oPINIoN

We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the International Standards  
on Auditing (New Zealand). Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and carry out our audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts and disclosures that would affect a reader’s overall understanding of the 
financial statements. If we had found material misstatements that were not corrected, we would have referred to them in our opinion.

An audit involves carrying out procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  
The procedures selected depend on our judgement, including our assessment of risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the preparation  
of the Company and Group’s financial statements that give a true and fair view of the matters to which they relate. We consider internal 
control in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Company and Group’s internal control.
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An audit also involves evaluating:

• the appropriateness of accounting policies used and whether they have been consistently applied;

• the reasonableness of the significant accounting estimates and judgements made by the Board of Directors;

• the adequacy of all disclosures in the financial statements; and

• the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete accuracy of the financial statements. In accordance with the 
Financial Reporting Act 1993, we report that we have obtained all the information and explanations we have required. We believe we 
have obtained sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

RESPoNSIBILITIES of THE BoARD of DIRECToRS

The Board of Directors is responsible for preparing financial statements that:

• comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and

• give a true and fair view of the Company and Group’s financial positions, financial performances and cash flows. 

The Board of Directors is also responsible for such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board of Directors is also responsible for the 
publication of the financial statements, whether in printed or electronic form.

The Board of Directors’ responsibilities arise from the State-Owned Enterprises Act 1986 and the Financial Reporting Act 1993. 

RESPoNSIBILITIES of THE AuDIToR

We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the financial statements and reporting that opinion to you based on our 
audit. Our responsibility arises from section 15 of the Public Audit Act 2001 and section 19(1) of the State-Owned Enterprises Act 1986.

INDEPENDENCE

When carrying out the audit we followed the independence requirements of the Auditor-General, which incorporate the independence 
requirements of the New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants.

Lesley Mackle 
On behalf of the Auditor-General 

Wellington, New Zealand

PricewaterhouseCoopers
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foR THE yEAR ENDED 30 JuNE PARENT 2013 PARENT 2012

DEBT & EQuITy EMPLoyED

Debt Employed 44.1 37.7

Equity Employed 89.9 93.2

Total Debt & Equity Employed 134.0 130.9

Charge on Operating Capital 7.0 7.4

Charge on Equity Capital 5.9 6.3

Economic Value Added 0.4 0.9

SuMMARy of PARAMETERS foR CoST of CAPITAL

Risk free rate – 5 year Government Stock 2.94% 3.51%

Market risk premium 7.00% 7.00%

Company tax rate 28% 28%

Business risk factor (asset beta) 0.45 0.45

Cost of Capital 5.27% 5.68%

Cost of Equity Capital

Equity Risk factor (equity beta) 0.62 0.60

Cost of equity 6.43% 6.74%

(All figures shown in tables are in $NZ millions unless otherwise stated)

EVA measures the extent to which a business is performing above or below expectations. A positive EVA means the business is adding 
value after allowing for a normal reward to the providers of capital. 

Airways’ pricing is set at a level which provides an EVA result of zero for the relevant pricing period, based on planned operating costs 
and capital expenditure. The above EVA result for the financial year ended 30 June 2013 is based on the actual cost of capital. 

The EVA reporting framework applied by Airways can be found at the following website: 
http://airways.co.nz/about_Airways/corporate-publications.asp
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REPoRT To THE READERS of THE EVA KEy PERfoRMANCE INDICAToRS of AIRwAyS CoRPoRATIoN of NEw ZEALAND 
LIMITED foR THE yEAR ENDED 30 JuNE 2013

PricewaterhouseCoopers audit the financial statements of Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited (Airways) on behalf of the 
Auditor-General. PricewaterhouseCoopers has been engaged to provide reasonable assurance over the economic value added (EVA) 
key performance indicators (KPIs) of Airways, detailed on page 60 of this document. 

DIRECToRS’ RESPoNSIBILITIES

The Directors of Airways are responsible for the preparation of the KPIs, in accordance with the EVA policies and principles adopted by 
Airways. A link to the EVA policies and principles adopted by Airways is provided on page 60 of this document.  

The Directors’ responsibilities include establishing and maintaining a system of internal control relevant to the preparation of the KPIs to 
ensure they are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AuDIToR’S RESPoNSIBILITIES

Our responsibility is to obtain reasonable assurance that the KPIs have been calculated in accordance with the EVA policies and 
principles adopted by Airways.

BASIS of oPINIoN

An assurance engagement includes examining, on a test basis, evidence relevant to the KPIs.

Our engagement has been conducted in accordance with International Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (New Zealand) 
“Assurance Engagements other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information”.

We planned and performed our assurance engagement so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered 
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient and appropriate evidence to obtain reasonable assurance that the KPIs have been 
calculated in accordance with the EVA policies and principles adopted by Airways.

We have no relationship with or interests in Airways other than in our capacities as assurance providers in conducting this engagement 
and other assurance services, as auditors of Airways on behalf of the Auditor-General and providers of some tax compliance services.

uNQuALIfIED oPINIoN 

We have obtained all the information and explanations we have required.

Based on our reasonable assurance engagement, the EVA KPIs on page 60 have been calculated in accordance with the EVA policies 
and principles adopted by Airways.

Our engagement was completed on 28 August 2013 and our opinion is expressed as at that date.

Lesley Mackle 
On behalf of the Auditor-General 

Wellington, New Zealand

PricewaterhouseCoopers
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DIRECToRS’ INSuRANCE 

Airways has arranged Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance which includes cover for Directors against loss from any claims made 
against them arising from acts in their capacity as Directors. Certain actions are specifically excluded.

DIRECToRS’ fEES PAID 1 JuLy 2012-30 JuNE 2013

DIRECToR AMouNT

Susan Paterson 58,000

David Park 36,250

Anthony Briscoe (Retired October 2012) 9,667

Susan Huria 29,000

Terry Murdoch 29,000

Susan Putt 29,000

Graham Reeves (Retired April 2013) 24,167

Chris Moxon (Started January 2013) 7,250

Robin Gunston (Started January 2013) 7,250

Grant Kemble (Started May 2013) -

ToTAL 229,584

Note: The above schedule of Directors’ Fees represents the actual date of payment over the period and therefore may not reflect 
annualised fees payable. 
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ToTAL REMuNERATIoN oVER $100,000

REMuNERATIoN BAND ToTAL STAff EXECuTIVE/SENIoR 
MANAGERS

oPERATIoNAL STAff & 
MANAGERS

$100,000 - $110,000 64 - 64

$110,000 - $120,000 53 - 53

$120,000 - $130,000 66 4 62

$130,000 - $140,000 55 - 55

$140,000 - $150,000 39 3 36

$150,000 - $160,000 31 1 30

$160,000 - $170,000 45 1 44

$170,000 - $180,000 66 1 65

$180,000 - $190,000 44 1 43

$190,000 - $200,000 45 1 44

$200,000 - $210,000 24 3 21

$210,000 - $220,000 10 1 9

$220,000 - $230,000 4 3 1

$240,000 - $250,000 1 1 -

$250,000 - $260,000 2 1 1a

$260,000 - $270,000 1 1 -

$270,000 - $280,000 1 - 1a

$320,000 - $330,000 1 1 -

$330,000 - $340,000 2 2 -

$550,000 - $560,000 1 1 -

555 26 529

a Includes equalisation payments and overseas allowances.
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CoMMITMENT To SouND GoVERNANCE

Directors and management recognise the importance of robust and effective governance and are committed to delivering this at 
Airways. The following sections set out the systems and processes Airways has in place to foster high standards of ethical and safety 
conscious behaviour and sound decision making. It also explains how Airways ensures those systems and processes are supported by 
the right people.

GoVERNANCE fRAMEwoRK 

Airways operates under a range of legislative and regulatory obligations, however the key principles of Airways’ governance framework 
are established by the Companies Act 1993, State-Owned Enterprises Act 1986, the Owners Expectation Manual and the Civil Aviation 
Authority (CAA) Act 1990. Those key principles are:

 a)  Airways is ultimately accountable to the Shareholding Ministers, who have support from Treasury (through the Crown 
Operating Monitoring Unit (COMU)).

 b)  This accountability is achieved through the annual expectations letter issued by the Shareholding Ministers and the 
compilation of (and reporting against) the Statement of Corporate Intent (SCI) by the Airways board. The SCI sets out the 
objectives, the nature and scope of activities, financial and non-financial performance indicators and an estimate of the 
current commercial value, of Airways.

 c)  The Office of the Auditor General (OAG) is responsible for providing additional financial oversight, primarily through the 
appointment of an external auditor.

 d) Starting with the board, and flowing through to all areas of the company, Airways adopts a ‘no surprises’ policy.

 e)  Airways must adhere to all applicable Civil Aviation rules and regulatory requirements to ensure continuing operational 
certification from the CAA, including establishing and maintaining an effective Safety Management System.

The key parties in Airways’ governance structure, and the lines of reporting and accountability between them, are set out in the 
following diagram:

Shareholding 
Ministers

COMU

External Audit

Management

The Executive 
Group

Safety  
& Risk

Audit & 
Assurance

The Board

Remuneration 
Committee

Investment 
Committee 
(Ad-hoc)

Audit & 
Finance 

Committee

Safety 
Committee

Airways

Scrutiny
Accountability
Direct reporting line
Relationship and communication channel
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RELEVANT RoLES AND RESPoNSIBILITIES

THE BoARD

The board’s key role is to represent and promote the interests of the shareholders, by providing leadership in the development of the 
Airways’ vision, strategy and activities. It is ultimately accountable for adding long term value to Airways while ensuring all obligations 
are met.

Some of the key responsibilities they have to ensure this is achieved are:

• Ensuring clear goals, and strategies for achieving them, are established through the annual Business Plan and SCI

• Holding management responsible for delivering on that plan

• Ensuring appropriate risk management policies and strategies are established and monitored

•  Establishing, participating in and monitoring effective governance structures and internal controls that address Airways’ key financial, 
commercial and safety risks

• Reporting to the Shareholding Ministers on performance and other required matters

• Providing leadership in building effective relationships with key stakeholders

• Managing CEO appointment and performance

• Providing leadership and guidance on remuneration policies and strategies

• Ensuring systems are in place to manage statutory and regulatory compliance

Ensuring independence

A key component of the board’s ability to deliver robust governance is maintaining independence, in both fact and appearance,  
from management and from any personal interests.

To ensure this, the board has no executive directors, and directors are not permitted to provide business or professional services  
to Airways, unless specifically authorised by the shareholders.

Managing conflicts of interest

All directors recognise the importance of maintaining independence and are required to record all interests, material or otherwise,  
in the Interests Register which is updated and reviewed at each board meeting. Where conflicts between a director’s interests and matters 
being reviewed by the board do exist, the relevant director refrains from voting and will not take part in any of the preceding discussion.

Appointing new members

All new directors are appointed by the shareholder, in consultation with the chairperson. In order for the board to meet its duties  
and responsibilities, it is crucial that they have an appropriate mix of skills and backgrounds. Currently, the board has a sound mix  
of commercial, industry, technology and entrepreneurial experience across all members.

Continuing education

Airways provides ongoing support for continuous professional learning and development to all directors. Airways also expects that 
directors will take responsibility for continuously improving their own professional knowledge and skills, utilising and supplementing  
this support where required.

Monitoring performance

Each year, the board critically evaluates its collective performance, processes and procedures. The performance of individual directors  
is also reviewed and evaluated annually.

In 2012, the board engaged “The Boardroom Practice Ltd” to facilitate the annual board and director evaluation process, ensuring the 
board was operating at a “best practice” level.
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CoMMITTEES

The board has established a number of committees focused on addressing some of the key board responsibilities. The role, key 
responsibilities and members of the committees are set out below. While these committees are responsible for certain activities and 
decisions, ultimate accountability still resides with the board.

Committee objectives Key roles and responsibilities Members 

Audit and finance 
Committee

Assist the board in meeting 
its internal controls, financial 
reporting, audit and legal/
regulatory compliance 
responsibilities

•  Review audit and assurance reports from Head of Audit and Assurance

•  Understand key financial, commercial and business recovery  
risks and how they are being managed

•  Understand the internal control environment and any identified 
deficiencies

• Review key governance policies and any material breaches thereof

•  Review annual and interim financial statements and related issues  
and complex transactions

• Manage the external audit relationship

• Oversee the internal audit function

• Review effectiveness of legal and regulatory compliance systems

Susan Putt (Chair)

Graeme Reeves1

Chris Moxon

Safety Committee
Inform the board of the 
performance of Airways’ safety 
management systems

•  Review audit and assurance reports from Head of Audit and Assurance

•  Review safety reports from the Head of Safety and Risk including key 
safety metrics, status reports on incident investigations and key  
safety issues

•  Understand key safety risks and how they are being managed 

David Park (Chair)

Terry Murdoch

Robin Gunston

Remuneration 
Committee

Assist the board in establishing 
remuneration policies and 
practices

•  Set and review remuneration policies

•  Review and recommend remuneration for the CEO and his  
direct reports

•  Set and review the terms of the company’s short and long  
term incentive plans 

•  Obtain and consider independent remuneration advice

Susan Huria (Chair)

Graeme Reeves1

Robin Gunston

Susan Putt

Investment 
Committee 
(Ad hoc)

Enhance the quality and value 
of Airways’ capital and growth 
investment programmes

Where beneficial, review and make recommendations to the Board  
on potential investments and strategic plans

Chris Moxon (Chair)

Susan Huria

Terry Murdoch

1 Retired April 2013
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DIRECToRS’ ATTENDANCE

The board held 11 formal meetings during the year ended 30 June 2013. Board committees also met regularly throughout the year to 
consider matters relevant to, and required by, their terms of reference. Director attendance at these board and committee meetings is 
set out in the table below:

Board 
Meetings

Special Board 
Meetings

Audit and 
finance 

Committee 

Safety 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Investment 
Committee 5

Total Meetings Held 11 3 4 4 5 1

Susan Paterson 11 3 1 2 2 1

Anthony Briscoe1 4 (of 4) 1 (of 1) 2 (of 2) - 2 (of 2) 1

Susan Huria 11 3 1 - 5 1

Terry Murdoch 10 1 1 4 - -

David Park 10 2 2 4 - -

Susan Putt 11 3 4 2 (of 2) 2 (of 2) -

Graeme Reeves3 8 (of 9) 2 (of 3) 3 (of 3) - 3 (of 4) -

Chris Moxon2 6 (of 6) - 2 (of 2) - - -

Robin Gunston2 5 (of 6) - 1 (of 2) 2 (of 2) 2 (of 3) -

Grant Kemble4 2 (of 2) - - - - -

1 Retired October 2012, 2 Joined January 2013, 3 Retired April 2013, 4 Joined May 2013. 
5  The Investment Committee met less frequently this year following the board’s decision to handle much of the committee’s  

business at board rather than committee level.

EXTERNAL AuDIT

The OAG appoint external auditors annually, following consultation with the Board. External audit’s primary line of communication 
with Airways is through the Audit and Finance Committee (AFC), who review: the proposed audit scope and approach (to ensure 
there have been no restrictions placed on it); the results of the audit and management’s responses to audit findings; and the auditors’ 
performance.

External auditors are required to maintain independence from Airways and this is reviewed by the AFC continuously through the audit 
cycle. Annually, the board meet the external auditors without management present to ensure they have no issues or concerns the Board 
needs to be made aware of.

INTERNAL AuDIT AND ASSuRANCE 

The Audit and Assurance team provide the CEO and board with assurance that Airways is meeting its governance and operational 
requirements, and that risks are managed through planning and delivering the annual audit programme. They are also responsible  
for championing practise improvements across Airways that deliver increases to business performance, financial performance  
and/or stakeholder satisfaction.

AIRWAYS ANNUAL REPORT 2012-13 | 67

Financial Statements



GoVERNANCE AT AIRwAyS

Some of the key outcomes they are responsible for include:

• Delivery of audits in line with the Group-wide audit programme

• Assessment of audit action effectiveness to ensure actions are driving improvements and reducing recurring issues

• Assessment of legislative compliance, company-wide and remediation management 

• Ongoing certification to the ISO9001:2008 business standard   

• Verifying compliance to the CAA Rule parts, applicable to Airways

• Clear, concise, consistent, compliant document, process and record management, company-wide

• Quarterly reporting to the Audit & Finance and Safety Board sub-committees

• Increased understanding  across the Business of Audit and

• Improvements in business practices resulting from advice and guidance provided by the Audit and Assurance team

SAfETy AND RISK

The Safety and Risk team are responsible for providing an effective Safety Management System (SMS) that allows the business to 
manage operational and people safety on a risk prioritised basis. The team, utilising the SMS, provide assurance to the board, CEO and 
business that safety risks are being effectively and appropriately managed. They are also responsible for developing and supporting a 
just, and open reporting culture within Airways.
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BANKERS 
ANZ National Bank Limited 
Bank of New Zealand Limited

AUDITORS 
Lesley Mackle,  
with the assistance of 
PricewaterhouseCoopers  
on behalf of the  
Auditor-General
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REGISTERED OFFICE 
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100 Willis Street 
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Wellington 6140 
New Zealand

www.airways.co.nz


